

YOUNG LIVES TECHNICAL NOTE **NO. 11** August 2008

Methods, Tools and Instruments for Use with Children

Joy Johnston



Foreword

This paper was prepared by Joy Johnston in January 2006, when Young Lives was at a turning point. Detailed planning was underway for the second round of data collection for the two cohorts – approximately 2,000 children aged between 6-17.9 months in 2002 and 1,000 children aged between 7.5-8.5 years in 2002 in each study country.

The Young Lives team was committed to including a strong child-focussed component to the questionnaires, including perspectives of children (via child interviews with the older cohort) and parents (via the household questionnaires) on their situation, their aspirations and the challenges of childhood in their country contexts.

At the same time, in January 2006, the Young lives team was beginning to plan a new component of the project – longitudinal qualitative research that would offer in-depth insight on a sub-sample of Young Lives communities and would include group work, observations, in-depth interviews, and case studies. Child focussed research methods were thus becoming central to the planning of both survey and in-depth components of the Young Lives Project. In this Technical Note, Joy Johnston provided an invaluable overview of some major research methods and tools.

Martin Woodhead Young Lives, Child Research Director

Contents

	Foreword		i
1.	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Children's Participation	1
	1.2	Age-related Issues	2
2.	Саг	usal and Mediating Factors	3
		Social Ecologies	3
		2.1.1 The structure and extent of Children's Social Networks	3
		2.1.2 The nature and extent of Children's Social Support	5
		2.1.3 Social Skill Development	8
		2.1.4 Social Exclusion	10
	2.2	Political Formation	11
		2.2.1 Community Level	11
		2.2.2 Intra-household level	12
	2.3	Human Capacity	14
		2.3.1 Family Aspirations	16
		2.3.2 Community Roles and Norms	16
3.	Effe	ects of poverty on children	18
	3.1	Cultural Competencies	18
		3.1.1 School and Academic Achievement	18
		3.1.2 Work	22
		3.1.3 Life Skills	23
	3.2	Psychosocial Capacities	25
		3.2.1 Agency and Self-Efficacy3.2.2 Pride and Shame	28
		3.2.2 Well-being	30 31
	2 2	Functioning	32
	5.5	3.3.1 Time Use	32
		3.3.2 Work	35
		3.3.3 Migration	37
		3.3.4 Analysis of Strategies	38
	3.4	Protection, Relationships and Integration	39
		3.4.1 Stigma and Discrimination	39
		3.4.2 Children's Social Networks	40
		3.4.3 Protection	40
	3.5	Subjective Views	42
		3.5.1 Defining Poverty	42
		3.5.2 Problems, Risks and Resources	42
		3.5.3 Likes and Dislikes	43
4.	Cor	ncluding Remarks	45
5.	References		46

1. Introduction

This paper focuses on the methods, tools, and instruments that may be useful for research with children in the second and subsequent phases of data collection in the Young Lives project. Specifically, it addresses methods for investigating the following two lines of enquiry:

- a) What are the factors (global, national, sub-national, community and household/family) that act on children's lives, to either increase or reduce poverty and its effects?
- b) What effects do multidimensional aspects of poverty have on children's functioning, capabilities and well-being during the course of childhood?

The paper will include examples of qualitative and quantitative measures that could be used both in sub-sample and full-sample data collection. Part of what makes Young Lives unique is the opportunity to combine qualitative and quantitative methods and data. Analysis of this data will give a much deeper and broader picture of global child poverty than can be obtained through either quantitative household surveys or in-depth qualitative work alone. Further, combining and comparing the data obtained at the levels of the community, household and child build a rich context for the study of poor children's lives. Therefore, questions from the full-sample child questionnaire that link with the sub-sample methods suggested will be shown in square 'callout' boxes. Links with the research at the household and community levels will also be highlighted where applicable.

This paper does not set out a definitive schedule for the research, nor does it include all the detail necessary for the implementation of the instruments and methods. Instead, it provides some background to the child full-sample questionnaire, and a starting point for discussions about methods and tools for sub-sample work. Firstly, however, some of the issues that need to be borne in mind when designing methods involving children will be briefly addressed.

1.1 Children's Participation

"The assumption in the past has often been that children will automatically benefit from development or poverty reduction strategies that are aimed at the household level. There was thus thought to be limited value in collecting data on the lives of individual children (Theis 1996). However, research with children has shown that children often give perceptive answers that differ significantly from adults' and demonstrate that poverty affects individual children within households differently they. Consequently, 'Today, it would be almost unthinkable for an organisation concerned with children to carry out in-depth research into their situation without involving the children themselves."

(Black 1997: 47)

The extent of children's participation in research varies from coercion and manipulation through to consultation with children, child-initiation and child direction (Hart's ladder of participation 1992, cited in Johnson 1996). Kirby (1999) illustrates that children can be involved in all aspects of the research process, including deciding the subject areas, drafting the questions, designing the methods, ordering the questions and discussing, piloting and revising the instruments produced.

In Young Lives, we have already established the broad research questions but there may be scope in the pilot phase to establish what are the relevant issues for children in the different countries so that they can help to shape the more specific lines of questioning for Round 2, or alternatively for future rounds of data collection. A degree of flexibility and reflection will need to be inherent in whatever questions and methods are developed at this stage to allow for participants' increased input.

1.2 Age-related Issues

While the Young Lives conceptual framework recognises that child development does not necessarily proceed in the same way in all cultures as assumed by many Piagetian and neo-Piagetian psychologists, there are still differences in what is appropriate for children of different ages (Hart 1997). These capabilities will have been fundamentally shaped by the culture. In some instances, the extent of children's abilities and competencies may be masked by surface features of the tasks they are asked to perform. For example, Reynolds (1989) found that children in South African townships performed badly on classic cognitive tasks (for example as used by Jean Piaget and his followers to assess children's concepts of quantity and number) but when Western materials were replaced by locally familiar activities (for example, counting stones placed in the ground rather than counting plastic chips in plastic cups) then children showed more mature capacities. This illustrates the importance of using materials and tools that are familiar to children. A related and fundamental point is that children in some of the Young Lives contexts may not be literate, may be semi-literate, or may not have had the opportunity to use pens and pencils at all (Johnson 1996).

Some researchers have succeeded in carrying out participatory research with children as young as four, the age of the youngest in the 2001 cohort in Round 2. While most of this work has been done in the UK (Clark and Stratham 2005, Miller 1997, Cousins 1999, Alderson 2000), some has incorporated techniques from participatory appraisal in developing countries (Clark, personal communication, 12 October 2005) and may be adaptable for use in Young Lives sites. Further, Reynolds (1989) conducted participatory research with three-six year-olds. Consequently, although most research in developing countries has been done with older children, Young Lives could pioneer participatory research with year-olds in developing countries. Although only certain information will be obtained, it will be interesting to observe how such early views, perspectives and experiences shape children's developmental processes.

Obviously, different methods are appropriate for different age groups, with adolescents capable of verbalising their experiences, views and perspectives (Mann and Tolfree 2003), However, those in developing countries are often shy (Penn 2004) and younger children may be more interested in drawing and playing games (Mann and Tolfree 2003). Young Lives children in different sites are likely to vary greatly in their outlook, capacities, cultural knowledge, beliefs, and ways of communicating, so suitability of different methods and tools will vary from context to context. For example, TV and the Internet will be available to a proportion of those in the study. For older children and adolescents, this may mean they have been exposed to Western adolescent roles and norms. Methods that have been developed for use with teenagers often take such aspects of adolescence into account and have provided, for example, ways for individual assertion and challenge. However, adolescents elsewhere may have different expectations, roles, and norms guiding their behaviour so alternative methods will be appropriate for them.

Potentially the most important issue about conducting research with children as opposed to adults is that there exists an even greater power differential between adult researchers and child participants than between two adults, due to the lesser power and freedoms of children relative to adults in all cultures (Punch 2002a). This means that children may be more likely to lie or exaggerate to please the researcher and researchers may impose their own views and expectations of childhood onto children (Punch 2002a). One way to try to overcome this is to have children conduct the research (Kirby 1999). This has extensive implications for fieldworker selection and training and may not be a viable option given time and budget constraints. Consequently, preferable research methods will be those that allow children to use their own words and concepts in relaxed settings and researchers must be trained to build rapport with children.

Having established a few of the aspects that need to be borne in mind when considering methods, tools and instruments for use in Young Lives, I will now move on to address each of the lines of enquiry in turn.

2. Causal, Moderating and Mediating Factors¹

The first broad line of enquiry is:

a) What are the factors (global, national, sub-national, community and household/family) that act on children's lives, to either increase or reduce poverty and its effects?

2.1 Social Ecologies²

2.1.1 The structure and extent of children's social networks

A major finding in research with adults and children living in poverty in contexts all over the world is that the experience of poverty is mediated through and moderated by people's social worlds (Narayan et al. 2000, Feeny & Boyden 2003, Ridge 2003). The effects of material poverty can be lessened by participation in formal and informal social institutions and networks, but poverty can also lead to structural and enduring social losses and exclusion. The following questions in the twelve-year-old questionnaire will elicit some basic information about each child's peer group, and will demonstrate if the child is lacking in friends or has an abundance of friends who they see regularly.

- 3.3 Do you have a friend or friends you feel are really important in your life?
- 3.4 Can you tell me their names? (to gauge how many)

¹ Moderating factors influence the strength or direction of the relationship between cause and effect. Mediating factors connect a cause and effect that would otherwise not be related.

² Follows the Ecological Theory by Bronfenbrenner (1979) in emphasising the multiple social systems with which the individual engages often linked to specific settings, in the case of young children, for example, with parents and siblings at home or with peers at school.

In specific sites, there may be youth groups, clubs, or other interventions aimed at increasing children's participation in society or other positive outcomes. Questions on children's participation in various organised groups are also included in the full sample questionnaire. They are asked the following question with regard to youth groups, religious groups, sports groups, after school clubs or work related groups, as well as being given the option of specifying other groups they are members of. Names for these groups may need to be country specific. Through this question and others later in the questionnaire, it will be possible to see if those who report stigma and discrimination are also excluded from organised activities.

3.16.1 Are you a member of a NAME OF GROUP?

3.16.2 How often do you attend meetings?

Further, questions about caregivers' social capital have been included from Round 1 onwards, with some significant modifications in Round 2. To build on this information, the following methods allow children to talk in more detail about who is important to them and what the makeup of their social worlds is.

Social Map

Armstrong et al (2004) found that developing a map of 'Who do I visit' gave relevant and specific information about children's social worlds in Sri Lanka. This exercise is suitable for small groups of five or six people or for individuals. Children drew maps, with their home at the centre, and the locations they visit to meet different people. This visual stimulus allowed for detailed and concrete discussions about the proximity, accessibility, context, motives, and frequency of different social interactions. One problem with this method is that it does not give information about the people who children informally meet but do not make an effort to visit. This information could be gathered by rewording the main exercise or by adding a supplementary question.

Guided Tours

An even more concrete aid to discussion about important relationships would be to allow children to lead a guided tour of their area and point out who is important to them. This is similar to the guided tour method used by Clark and Moss (2005) in their work with fouryear-olds. This could be done with a group of Young Lives children if they lived very close together and could involve photography, if budget allowed, facilitating later discussions. A similar approach could be taken with twelve-year-olds although the distances they travel may be greater, and it may need to be combined with another method or discussion to keep them interested. The advantage of this method over others in this section is that it requires no literacy or familiarity with paper and pencil exercises.

Who Matters?

The protocol for research with working children developed by Woodhead (1998) was developed in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, the Philippines, Guatemala, El Salvador, and Nicaragua and includes an activity named 'Who Matters?'. In this exercise, children make a drawing or chart with themselves at the centre and other important people in a circle around them.

Children are then asked questions about why these people are important, how they help, and what responsibilities children feel towards them. Further, the most important people or person can be selected and questions about this relationship, what makes them pleased or unhappy can be discussed. This method is, therefore, beginning to analyse what help these relationships can provide.

2.1.2 The nature and extent of children's social support

While the term 'social capital' as used by economists considers people and networks to be stable assets, the term 'resources' is used by the Wellbeing in Developing Countries research group to reflect the more dynamic nature of social relationships:

"Here, rather than think of people having a stock of relationships, as social capital discourses encourage us to do, in reality we only know what the quality or value of most non-contractual social relationships is in their realization."

(McGregor 2004: 346)

Within this understanding, social relationships are there to be appealed to but may not always be expected to benefit the person in pre-determined ways. For this reason, analysis of children's social resources needs to go beyond a demonstration of the extent of their kin and friendship networks to show how meaningful these resources are to them in times when they need assistance of different kinds. The following questions are included in the twelve-year-old questionnaire to begin to access this information:

3.1 If you were very worried about something for a long time, is there anyone who could help you?

However, they remain hypothetical and need further investigation.

The following items attempt to address the nature of children's relationship with their parents, and the degree of support they experience from them:

- 5.1.1 I always obey my parents [+]
- 5.1.2 My parents/guardians rarely talk with me about the things that matter to me
- 5.1.3 I always feel loved by my parents/guardians [+]
- 5.1.4 My parents never support me in the things I want to do
- 5.1.5 I usually feel able to express my views and feelings with my parents [+]
- 5.1.6 If my parents punish me it is fair because I have done something wrong [+]

The following methods mostly use hypothetical scenarios in some way but encourage children to draw on their experiences of life and offer a context, so eliciting a more realistic answer.

Spider Diagrams

A common method for addressing children's social support is the spider diagram (see, for example, Armstrong et al. 2004, Punch 2002b) in which the spider's 'legs' represent a problem and the feet a person who they could turn to for help or advice. However, Armstrong et al. (2004) note that this method was difficult for children, raised ethical issues as most children indicated that no one could help them, and did not generate much discussion. This method may still provide a good stimulus for discussion in an individual interview, if the child is sufficiently literate.

What If?

Also part of the Woodhead (1998) protocol, this is a story-completion game, using either words or pictures. Vignettes were developed according to issues that face working children, including not earning enough, trouble with the authorities, new regulations, family pressures, exploitation, and abuse. Questions such as 'Does this happen to you?', 'What should X do?', 'What will happen next? 'Why ?' and 'Who might help' allow children's social support to be assessed. General categories of helpers are elicited through discussion of the vignette, while more personally relevant information could be obtained through discussing actual or hypothetical events involving the participant. These pictures can also be changed to vary the gender, age, wealth, ethnic group or another relevant characteristic of the child in the picture, so eliciting some comparison with the participant and their own access to social support. In order to understand how social support mediates the effects of poverty, the scenarios used should be directly related to aspects of poverty, for example material and financial scarcity, employment, and land rights, and economic and educational opportunities. Since this method is suitable to use with individuals, it would be useful for Young Lives situations where children are not living close together.

Who matters? Focus Group Discussion (FGD)

Armstrong et al. (2004) found that a group version of 'Who Matters?' worked better than a group discussion of 'What If?' since children found it quite difficult to imagine what they would do and who they would turn to in different hypothetical situations. The group version of 'Who Matters?' focused on more positive aspects of social relationships and covered the following questions, in single sex groups:

Who do you like to be with? Who makes you feel happy? Who gives you advice when there's something you need to know? Who helps you when you're in trouble? Who do you tell your secrets to? If you've had an argument, who would help you sort it out? The authors note that these questions could be improved or added to because they were constructed without much consideration but that eight questions was about the right number and that most children concentrated quite well. However, some children were less forthcoming as the discussion progressed, which the authors suggest could have been because earlier questions were easier or because they realised that some reflection was wanted as well as simple answers.

The Social Network Sorting Activity

Designed by Armstrong et al (2004), this is an extensive activity lasting two hours in its fullest form but could be done in sections if time was short. This method builds from the familiar and descriptive to a more analytical task so earlier stages will be more appropriate for younger children, from the age of eight upwards, but may be boring for older children.

Armstrong et al (2004) conducted this exercise in a large group of 16-20 children. In smaller groups of three or four, children wrote the names of people they meet normally on a Post-it note. These were then stuck on a large sheet of paper, with one end representing those relationships inside the home and another for relationships outside the home. Post-it notes were grouped into categories (e.g. friend, cousin, and teacher). The frequency with which different categories of relationships are mentioned can be noted while the different categories can be explored by asking children why and how these people are important.

The next stage requires children in small groups to think about the biggest problems and challenges they face and write the top four or five on Post-it notes. These can then be gathered on the sheet and grouped according to similarity, discussing who it is worse for, according to age or gender. In order to narrow this list down and get more information about which problems are relevant to which children, the facilitators asked the participants to choose the biggest, or most common, three problems and raise their hand when one of theirs was mentioned. Noting who responded to which gives information on the individuals while the ones that elicit the most responses, the top three to seven, can be added to the sheet of paper to make a table, with problems down the side, and people along the bottom. Information about who helps children with different problems can then be elicited by asking participants to put a mark against the person who would help them if that problem arose. It may be easier for children if they were able to tick more than one box or rank their choices.

It is possible that copying may take place and this should be observed. After this information has been collected, a discussion about strategies for problem solving and other people who might help that are not represented, could build up a picture of children's social support and coping strategies.

Other Stimulus Materials

Punch (2002b) developed a variety of methods for collecting information about 13-14 year-old's problems and coping strategies in Scotland. She used a combination of group and individual interviews and a range of stimulus materials to engage the participants and provide contexts for focus group discussions about who could help and in what way. The stimulus materials included episodes from soap operas and letters from problem pages in magazines, since these were familiar materials for the children in her study. While unlikely to be appropriate for most of the children in the Young Lives study, such materials may be familiar for those who have televisions, while other stimulus materials, including newspaper articles or photographs of situations presenting problems for children, could be used.

Secret Box Method

Another method developed by Punch (2002b) for her work in Scotland was to use a secret box into which children could anonymously place a problem that they would never tell anyone about. While this method would not give information about individual children because of its anonymity, it might indicate the areas in which children generally felt unsupported. Using this method successfully would depend on literacy and a high level of trust.

2.1.3 Social Skill Development

'Social skills' in this context refer to a person's 'ability to interact effectively with others and deal with various social situations and demands' (Brewer 2003: 35). Skills such as these normally develop through interactions with parents, relatives, and peers from early childhood onwards and successful social interactions are important for daily life and successful living. There are serious consequences for people who fail to develop adequate social skills including low self-esteem, loneliness and lack of social support (evidence cited in Brewer 2003) since they may not know how to assert themselves, resolve conflict, or make friends. Some poor children living in isolated situations, for example through being excluded and stigmatised at school or through working alone as a domestic worker (Stegmann 2003) may not have a context to develop these skills, making their lives harder in the future. Conversely, those who develop good social skills may find that these facilitate routes out of poverty. If social skill development can be measured early in Young Lives, the extent to which it moderates the effects of poverty on children's futures may be measured in the future.

The following questions are included in the twelve-year-old questionnaire in an attempt to measure children's social skills. They are asked to answer using 'always', 'sometimes' or 'never'. They are all set in the context of school or work to give a specific situation for children to relate to and will only be asked if the individual child is at school and/or working.

- 3.6 Do other children include you in their games at break time at school?
- 3.7 At school, do you stand up for other kids if they are in trouble or being picked on?
- 3.8 Do you find it hard to talk to other children in your class?
- 3.9 Do you help other children who have a problem at school?

3.10 When you are doing paid work, are you working alongside other children under 15? (If yes, ask 3.11-3.14)

3.11 Do you find it easy to work alongside other children?

3.12 At work, do you stand up for other kids if they are in trouble or being picked on?

3.13 Do you find it hard to talk to other children at work?

3.14 Do you help other children who have a problem at work?

3.15 Is it possible for you to talk to the person responsible for paying you in money or goods if you do not get paid on time?

These questions have mostly been adapted from Brewer's (2003) recommended instrument for research with child domestic workers. She drew the questions from various psychological instruments for assessing social skills in North American and Europe. However, they have not been validated cross-culturally and this precise selection and wording of questions has not been used before and will thus need to be analysed for reliability. Through comparison with qualitative work with individual children and analysis of their correlations with future social integration, it may also be possible to asses the validity of their schools on these questions and potentially develop a social skills scale for use in the developing world.

Observations

Perhaps the best way of assessing a child's social skills is through observation or participant observation if time allows. In situations where many Young Lives children live close together and already interact together at school or in their neighbourhood, this may more practical. Alternatively, observations could be made during other activities, such as FGDs. Brewer (2003) suggests the following aspects of children's behaviour could be observed:

Does the child display flat affect (neutral facial expression all the time, failure to react to or reciprocate emotions expressed by others)?

Does the child prefer to watch others playing/talking rather than participating herself?

Is the child constantly by herself?

When the child is in a group, does she tend not to speak?

Does the child change her stated opinions to match those of others?

Does the child ever yell at or hit others?

Does the child offer help to others? [+]

Does the child express her opinions? [+]

It should be noted that this, or any other observational system that I could come up with, may not include the key indicators of social skills in other cultures or may include irrelevant ones. For this reason, it would be useful to discuss what constitutes good social skills with country teams, or through focus group discussions with adults, children, employers, and teachers.

Woodhead (2004) reports that Tyler et al. (1991) explored social competence among street children in Bogota in meaningful ways. I have not yet been able to read this paper but hope that it may indicate some useful methods.

Games

I am not aware of anyone who has measured social skills in this way but it might be possible to assess children's skills in co-operation and negotiation by observing their behaviour in simple co-operation or negotiation games. Punch (2001) reports engaging in semi-participant observation by joining children in their games, chores, and activities. Semi-participant observation reflects the fact that it is impossible for an adult to be an equal participant in a children's activity or game because they will always remain 'other'. If time allowed, this method would be a good way to observe children's social skills according to criteria defined in advance by country teams or members of the community.

Parent and Teacher Reports

Duncan et al. (2004) in their US study of the relative contributions of 'hard' (cognitive) and 'soft' (emotional, behavioural and social) skills to elementary school performance measured soft skills by gathering teacher's and parent's ratings of children in the autumn and spring terms of kindergarten. The items on the self-administered questionnaire for teachers covered self-control, interpersonal skills, externalising problem behaviours and internalising problem behaviours. Teachers had to rate various behaviours on a scale of one (never) to four (very often) to indicate the frequency with which the child displayed this behaviour. Parents completed a telephone or in-person survey that covered self-control, social interaction, sadness/loneliness, and impulsivity/overactivity. The authors found that these skills were less powerful predictors than cognitive skills of maths and reading ability in first grade. However, they note that these skills may have an impact on performance later in school and also that only maths and reading were measured. Although not conducted in the developing world, it might be possible to contribute to findings from research with children themselves by constructing a measure of suitable social behaviours in the different Young Lives sites and administering this to children's parents and teachers.

2.1.4 Social Exclusion

Although certain aspects of social exclusion will probably become clear through analysis of children's social worlds, it warrants more direct investigation since children report it in the UK (Ridge 2003) and the developing world (Boyden et al. 2003) as one of the most important aspects of their poverty. Feelings and perceptions of stigma and discrimination are assessed in section 11 of the questionnaire and through qualitative instruments described below (Section 3.4.1). Methods for researching how such exclusion moderates and mediates the effects of poverty are discussed below.

Vignettes

Dawes (1992) developed a picture test for use in South Africa. Pictures showed black children in various situations with and without the presence of security force members and asked children what was happening. They found that children referred more to general community and domestic violence than to political violence in tests without verbal cues, despite high exposure to political violence.

This method could be adapted for use with Young Lives sub-samples as follows. Pictures would be of situations related to poverty or ways out of poverty, such as a job interview, a school lesson or exam, or a situation with an authority figure. The children in the pictures could be different genders/castes/ethnicities/wealth groups or other dimensions on which exclusion occurs. Eliciting a discussion on the child's feelings, thoughts, prospects, and likely outcomes might highlight what children perceive to be the factors that affect their futures and outcomes. Conversely, showing a picture of a professional/unskilled worker/homeless person and asking children to imagine and discuss their history may elicit children's perceptions of the characteristics of successful people and the processes by which they become successful.

Essays

Essays have been used to elicit thoughts and stories from children about children's activities outside of school in Peru, Jamaica, and England, and their thoughts on physical punishment in Ethiopia (Save the Children Sweden 1995 and Ennew & Morrow 1994, cited in Ennew and Plateau 2004). Given the complex nature of the issue of social exclusion, this may be an appropriate method for those who are literate to demonstrate how they think the world works and why. This method could yield many data from a number of children simultaneously if it were possible to administer it through schools. However, it requires a high degree of literacy and may not be possible in some Young Lives sites where children are spread among many schools. Further, Raundalen and Dodge (1991) report that compositions gathered from Ethiopian refugees on children's lives, perceptions, and experiences elicited near identical essays with each child wanting to live in Britain or America and to become a doctor or an engineer. Consequently, care must be taken in administering the assignment, giving instructions, and setting the question.

Participation in organised activities

A further step towards understanding the effects of social exclusion could be taken by analysing the impact of organised group activities on children's empowerment, access to knowledge and access to services through observation and focus group discussions. This would demonstrate what those youth who do not attend such groups are alienated from.

2.2 Political Formation

The degree to which children and households have power to exercise choices and access assets and planning is likely to be an important mediating factor in children's escape from or continuation in poverty.

2.2.1 Community level

Some information about the distribution of power in the community will be gathered through the community questionnaire. Children's perceptions could be gathered in the following ways.

Focus Group Discussions (FGDs)

The extent to which children have power and access to make decisions at the level of the community could be measured through a focus group discussion with children from the same community. The Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children (2001) used the following questions in FGDs with displaced children in Northern Uganda, where there was growing inter-generational tension within the community:

Do you feel youth have enough opportunities to participate in community decisionmaking?

Do you feel adults/elders understand the problems of young people today?

What can be done to increase understanding between youth and adults/elders?

Specific issues will be important in different Young Lives sites and could be used as examples or contexts for these general questions. Further, the topics could be adapted to better access issues to do with poverty.

Resource Allocation Game

One possibility may be to play a game with children in which they have to imagine who in the community would have the most power to make decisions about resources. An imaginary resource, such as food, building materials, televisions, or healthcare could be represented by stones, twigs or counted and divided between groups, represented by children.

Venn Diagram

Harpham et al. (2005) in their participatory appraisal of poverty in rural Vietnam, used Venn diagrams with groups of up to ten children. First, the main poverty issues in the commune were identified and then children drew circles of different sizes to show those who have contributed to dealing with the issue, with the size of the circle reflecting the power and influence of the group or unit.

2.2.2 Intra-household level

The questionnaire begins to address some issues on the intra-household dimension. The contribution of each household member to productive and reproductive work is recorded, as is the time use of different children living in the household. Further, information on the education levels of all household members is collected. Section 5 deals more specifically with children's perceptions of intra-household allocations of power.⁴

5.1.7 Compared to my sisters, less money is spent on me

5.1.8 Compared to my brothers, less money is spent on me

5.1.9 My parents treat me worse than other children in my family

5.2 [If a positive response] Why do you think your parents treat you worse than other children in your family? You are allowed to give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

5.3 Have your parents ever made a major decision about your life that you were not happy with?

5.4 What was it about??

5.5 Did you feel able to try to change their mind/s about it?

5.6 Why did you think you might be able to change their minds?

Mobility Maps

Harpham et al (2005) asked groups of ten children to draw their house on the centre of a piece of paper and then identify the locations of some of the main places they go to. Sapkota & Sharma (1996) also used this method and then developed themes further in individual methods. This could be used as a prompt for discussion about freedoms to move around: where children are allowed to go, where they are not allowed to go, why, whether they make the decision to go/not to go. Differences between boys and girls could be elicited if these maps were discussed in cross-gender groups, or through prompting individual children to compare their experiences with those of siblings or friends.

Who matters?

Woodhead (1998) suggests asking questions about the degree of autonomy children have with respect to parents and other important people as part of the 'Who Matters?' activity detailed above, and asking about the extent to which individuals must be obeyed, or to which they have responsibilities to them.

In-depth interviews and observations

Samantha Punch has carried out fascinating work on the nature of parent-sibling negotiations and the distribution of jobs within the family. Despite using lots of visual and task-based methods to explore other issues, she notes that intra-household relationships 'could not be depicted in a drawing, photograph or diagram but needed to be observed, written and talked about' (Punch 2001: 178). Her in-depth data on this subject were collected in several trips lasting a number of months over a period of two years. Obviously, such methods will be impossible in Young Lives. However, it does seem that more traditional ethnographic measures are more likely to elicit information about intra-household dynamics and power relations.

Some of the questions Punch (2004) used in Bolivia to encourage children to talk about their negotiation with their parents were along the following lines, but were often asked in relation to another daily activity:

Could you refuse to do a particular job if you were told to do it by your parents?

What do you do to make jobs you don't like doing more enjoyable?

Answers to these questions demonstrated that children have a wide range of avoidance and coping strategies to make domestic chores less burdensome.

Observations revealed the processes of negotiation through which parents and children divide jobs between different members of the family, and also demonstrated the way that parents encourage children to develop new skills by taking on different roles and responsibilities.

2.3 Human Capacity

While attention is being paid to the human capital of individual children to measure the effects of poverty, the personal endowment of households and social networks is an important moderating factor. Human capacity relates to the education levels, social and life skills, roles, attitudes, values and practices of individuals and communities. Some of this research will need to be done with caregivers and household heads to address ideas about children's development and child rearing, the nature of familial aspirations for children, and the norms that shape the obligations between generations, amongst other issues.

Details on the education levels of household members are collected through the household roster in Rounds one and two. Section 12 attempts to address the attitudes and values of the primary caregiver. This section also addresses the psychosocial issues covered in section four of the twelve-year-old questionnaire, including pride and shame, stigma and discrimination, life satisfaction and self-efficacy⁵ and are discussed below.

A few items regarding self-efficacy with regard to child outcomes are of particular note when discussing human capital:

12.1.12 By sending my child to school I can ensure that they get a good start in life.

12.1.15 I had no choice about which school to send my child to.

12.1.18 I can do little to help my child do well in school, no matter how hard I try.

12.1.18 If my child gets really sick, I can do little to help them get better.

Attitudes to education are assessed using the following questions:6

12.5 When you were a child, did you ask your parents to send you to school?

12.6 Do you think that formal schooling is (or could be) useful in your current life?

12.7 Imagine that a man in the VILLAGE/SUBURB has a 12 year-old son who is attending school full-time. He badly needs his son to work full-time, but his son wants to stay in school. What should the man do?

12.8 Ideally, what grade/stage of schooling would you like NAME to complete before they leave school?

12.9 Do you expect NAME will actually finish school before this point?

12.10 What are main reasons NAME is most likely to drop out of school early? You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

12.16 Finally, imagine that a man in the VILLAGE/SUBURB has a 12 year-old daughter who is attending school full-time. He badly needs his daughter to work full-time, but his daughter wants to stay in school. What should the man do?

12.9 How disappointed would you be if NAME did not finish secondary school?

⁵ Self-efficacy is a technical term referring to an individual's feelings about their personal capabilities, for example to solve a problem or to achieve a personal goal.

⁶ Questions 12.8-12.10 are only asked of caregivers of 12 year-old children who are still enrolled in school. These questions are included elsewhere in the 5year old questionnaire. At this point, caregivers of five year-olds are asked 12.8 How disappointed would you be if NAME did not finish primary school?

Caregiver attitudes to children more generally are assessed through the following questions⁷

12.11 What do you think would be the ideal number of children for you to have or to have had?

12.12 I am going to read you a list of qualities that children can be encouraged to learn at home. I want you to rate each quality on this scale, telling me how important you think it is. (independence; hard work; feeling of responsibility; imagination; tolerance and respect for other people; thrift, saving money and things; determination, perseverance; religious faith; unselfishness; obedience).

12.13 I have a list here of reasons people may give for wanting to have children in general. Please use this scale as a guide. Think about your experience with your own (child/children) and tell me how important the following reasons for wanting to have children are to you personally.

The following questions assess caregiver's expectations about child's future:

12.14	Please tell me the extent to which you expect the following kinds of help from NAME when he/she is grown-up
	12.14.1 That s/he continues living close to you.
	12.14.2 That s/he provides financial assistance to his younger brothers and sisters.
	12.14.3 That s/he helps you with housework.
	12.14.4 That s/he provides financial assistance to you.
	12.14.5 That s/he helps you care for his younger siblings.
	12.14.6 That s/he cares for you when you are old.
	12.14.7 That s/he provides emotional support to you.
12.15	At what age did NAME/do you expect NAME to
	12.15.1 Start earning money to support your household?
	12.15.2 Leave full-time education?
	12.15.3 Be financially independent of HIS/HER parents?
	12.15.4 Leave this household?
	12.15.5 Get married?

⁷ NB The numbers of these questions correspond to the twelve-year-old caregiver questionnaire, not the five-year-old one. Question 12.12 is from the World Values Survey. Question 12.13 gives a number of reasons for having children, which load onto two factors: economic/utilitarian and psychological/social. Drawn from the Value of Children project, these demonstrate the main value that is placed on children.

Some of these questions (12.7, 12.15, and 12.16) are asked of twelve-year-olds as well, to analyse the extent to which attitudes to education, work, and marriage are transmitted between generations and to what extent they differ.

Qualitative work on social networks (sections 2.1.1 and 2.1.2) will demonstrate whom the children see as their key support groups and sources of information and advice. Once identified, the human capacity of these individuals, including adults, siblings and peers, could be researched using some of the instruments for measuring capacities, competencies and functioning outlined below (Section 3.1, 3.2, 3.3) and using the above attitudinal questions. Further, where the household head is different from the primary caregiver, asking these attitudinal questions of the household head is important since their opinions and views are likely to strongly influence the opportunities and constraints experienced by the child.

2.3.1 Family Aspirations

In order to test the validity of these questions, less structured interviews with parents could be carried out.

Who Matters?

Another way to assess children's perceptions of parental aspirations is through the 'Who Matters?' activity mentioned above. After indicating who the people in their lives are, children are asked to name the most important person and are asked the following questions:

Who is the most important person?

What makes them pleased with you?

What makes them unhappy with you?

Differences in the expectations of fathers, mothers, and others with relation to work, school and other topics could be explored.

2.3.2 Community Roles and Norms

Focus Group Discussions with Adults

To understand the norms and general expectations about children's lives, FGDs with groups of parents, elders and other adults in the community around the following questions could be useful. The first four are adapted from Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children focus groups with adolescents in Sierra Leone (2002), whereas the others are new.

What does 'youth' mean in XXX [Name of community/country]? How do you become an adult? What is the role of youths in society? Do you consider youth to be important in your community and/or society? Do you consider youths to be important to the future of your community/society? At what age do you think that girls/boys should leave school? What are the best jobs for girls/boys under ten to do? Should they be paid for these jobs? What about girls/boys over ten? Should they be paid? When do girls/boys leave the family home? Do girls/boys continue to have responsibilities to you after this? Do you continue to have responsibilities to girls/boys?

This method usually reveals the general perceptions of a group, not the attitudes of individuals. However, the answers of individual parents could be recorded if there were enough researchers, and if participants consented to have their comments recorded individually.

Focus Group Discussions with adolescents

Some of the above questions could be asked of groups of index children, or in semistructured interviews with children. Additionally, some discussion around role models would be an interesting and fun way to understand the perceived values and aspirations for children. Kakama (2002) asked two questions about role models: 'Who is your role model?' and 'Why is [NAME] your role model?' These questions may yield different answers in a FGD rather than an individual survey, especially as they were included in the 'parental relations' section of Kakama's questionnaire rather than in a more general context here. Further ideas from a Women's Commission study in Sierra Leone (2002) include:

Do you feel you have any positive role models in your community?

Is there anyone you especially admire? Why?

What gives you hope? Why?

3. The effects of poverty on children's lives

The second line of enquiry that this paper addresses is:

b) What effects do multidimensional aspects of poverty have on children's functioning, capabilities and well-being during the course of childhood?

3.1 Cultural Competencies

'Cultural competencies' refer to those cognitive and other skills that can be hypothesised to be useful to children over their life-course. We are specifically interested in those skills and competencies that may help children to transition out of poverty or may be detrimentally affected by poverty. Although a measure of cognitive functioning (Raven's progressive matrices) was included in the eight-year-old questionnaire in Round 1, subsequent rounds will seek to measure cultural competencies in a less abstract sense.⁸ Consequently, assessing educational achievement, and children's acquisition of vocational and life skills seems more appropriate. Some of these measures (3.1.1) might be included in the full-sample questionnaire.

3.1.1 School and Educational Achievement

Academic achievement is an important outcome measure for our study since it improves individual's prospects for the future more than years spent in school (White & Masset 2004, Hanushek 2005). Since the quality of school is known to have a large impact on children's academic achievement, measures concerning the quality of schooling will also be discussed in this section, to ascertain the difference in quality of education between poorer and richer parts of the same country and the effect this has on attendance and achievement.

Preschool measures of linguistic competence – Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test

Many competencies that have been considered important for starting school in the West, including independence and creative thinking, would not be suited to other classroom contexts where different competencies are valued (Levine et al. 1994). However, verbal functioning is important for all children attending school since children must be able to adequately understand their teachers and formulate answers, ideas, and questions. Consequently, it is most important to study children's competence in the language of education in their country. It may also be interesting to test their verbal competence in their own main language, as a means of comparison and because verbal ability in one language affects acquisition of a second language (see for example, Rutter 2003). The relevance for policy of obtaining verbal competence is also clear: if children are not capable of speaking the language of education, they will inevitably be disadvantaged. Round one has already demonstrated that caregivers in the poorest families often do not speak the main language of the country, at least in Peru (Escobal et al 2003)⁹. Since many of these belong to ethnic minorities, they may also experience discrimination and isolation in other areas of life.

⁸ For more discussion of the results on these tests from Round 1, see Johnston (unpublished).

⁹ For example, Escobal et al (2003) in the Preliminary report from Peru write that 80% of the poorest group were fluent in Spanish, compared to 100% in the better off group, while 47% of the poorest caregivers were literate in Spanish, compared to 96% of the better-off group. The other preliminary reports do not report on literacy and fluency of caregiver, or disaggregate the results for poverty status.

One of the most widely used and validated tests of receptive vocabulary for American English is the Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test – Revised (PPVT-R). A word is spoken and the participant must choose the correct one of four pictures.¹⁰ This test has been shown to be 'largely dependent on the richness of the verbal environment '(Molloy 1981: 105), giving rise to sub-cultural differences among groups.

Although developed within a specific cultural and linguistic context, the PPVT-R has been successfully adapted for use in various countries, including Kenya (Daley et al. 2005), Guatemala (Engle et al. 1992)¹¹ and Indonesia (Hussaini et al. 1991, Pollitt et al. 1997). Pollitt and Triana (1999) note that the test is considered an indicator of achievement to the extent it measures vocabulary acquisition and it can be used with children of pre-school and school age.

One potential way forward for Young Lives would be to develop versions of the PPVT for the different countries. Daley et al. (2005) developed an East African version with samples of urban children in Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda while Engle et al. (1992) used common objects from the village in their Guatemalan test. Construction and piloting of these tests might take a considerable amount of time, however.

It must be noted that administering this test to the four-year-old children is likely to intimidate them, given that enumerators will be perceived as authority figures and higher status than the child will. In Round 1, Tuan et al (2003: 43) noted that the literacy and numeracy section of the Vietnam eight-year-old questionnaire had the highest rate of missing cases:

ranging from six cases for reading, seven cases for writing, up to 229 cases (23 per cent) for the numeracy section. Unfortunately, most of the missing cases for the numeracy section come from ethnic minority children (reportedly due to shyness).

Consequently, every effort should be made to reduce the inhibition the child may feel and allow them to demonstrate the best of their abilities. Administrators should be trained to make children feel relaxed and time should be allowed for a fun activity or game, such as a visual tour, prior to the test. Alternatively, if there is a literate sibling, they may be able to administer the test while the enumerator oversees them.

Academic Achievement measures

For older age groups, who will mostly have received primary education up to grade 4, there are a number of options for assessing their achievement. The following tests are being considered for inclusion in the full sample twelve-year-old questionnaire, through discussions with Santiago and Martin Woodhead. It must be remembered that some children will not have completed grade four and many may not have learnt everything they were expected to.

The international institute of assessment of educational achievement (IEA) is an independent, international cooperative of national research institutions and governmental

¹⁰ The original version (1959) consisted of two forms (L and M), was individually administered, allows a non-verbal or verbal response and is un-timed but only takes 10-20 minutes. The PPVT-R was designed by Dunn and Dunn (1981) and retains all of these features but contains more items (350 instead of 300), to increase its reliability and ability to discriminate. The test is suitable for ages from 2.5-40 and was standardised during 1979 on a sample of children chosen to represent the 1970 US census data, including racial-ethnic and urban-rural populations. The test manual reports internal consistencies from .61 to .88, and alternate form reliability values from .71 to .91 from the standardisation sample. Also, when alternate-form equivalency is examined by comparing means, Form M typically produces slightly higher standard score equivalents than does Form L.

¹¹ This method also collected a productive vocabulary school by first asking children to name the objects, then later to point to the ones they had not been able to name correctly.

research agencies that provide data on educational achievement to allow for cross-national comparison and to influence educational policy-making.

The general method is random sampling in two stages (school and class within grade) followed by the administration of tests to an entire class. Instruments were created in English then translated and verified, with checks to ensure that difficulty was not affected.

IEA PIRLS (Progress in International Reading Literacy Study)

This project began in 2001 with an assessment of the reading literacy achievement of children in fourth grade (defined as the upper of the two grades with most nine-year-olds) in a number of countries, though not any Young Lives countries. Literary texts and informational sources were used and children answered questions in a separate test booklet. Responses were open-ended or multiple choice and assessed children's ability to engage in a range of reading processes. Different blocks were distributed across different booklets. Each child did two blocks, 40 minutes each (examples can be downloaded from http://isc.bc.edu/pirls2001i/PIRLS2001_Pubs_UG.html)

Using these items would allow for comparison across sites and with other countries and would have the advantage of having been developed and validated by the world-leaders in this field. However, in sites where Young Lives children attend different schools or where administration through schools was not possible, these tests would take a long time and would be relatively uninteresting for children. They may also be too hard for some children and would not test lower levels of literacy in much depth.

IEA TIMSS-R (Third International Mathematics and Science Survey-Repeated)

The latest version of this project in 1999 tested maths and science at 8th grade in many countries but not any Young Lives case study countries. It is likely to be too hard for most of the children in our older cohort but may be useful in future rounds for those who are continuing with secondary education. The science questions covered earth science, life science, physics, chemistry, environmental and resource Issues, scientific enquiry and the nature of science (see http://isc.bc.edu/timss1999i/pdf/t99science_items.pdf for examples) while maths questions covered fractions and number sense, measurement, algebra, geometry, data representation, analysis and probability (see http://isc.bc.edu/timss1999i/pdf for examples).

IEA Pre-primary Study

The IEA High/scope preschool study focussed on early childhood care and education. Specifically, they examined how adults' educational values and expectations for four-yearolds affect the way they (parents, teachers, caregivers) organised environments and activities for children. Further, in phase three, the effect of these early structures on educational outcomes at age seven were examined. To date, attempts to access the measures used have been unsuccessful.

Ghana Living Standards Survey (GLSS)

This study (White and Masset 2004) was the source for the measures in Round 1 but the tests were longer in the GLSS. Simple written tests measured reading and comprehension in English and mathematics and abstract thinking. Longer tests for mathematics and reading contained 36 questions and 29 questions respectively. Only individuals with more than three years' education took the mathematics and reading tests.

The short English reading test consists of a few English sentences that make a short story and eight multiple choice comprehension questions. The short Maths test consists of eight questions (addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division), of increasing difficulty. The advanced English and mathematics test were previously used in a study on educational achievement in Kenya and Tanzania in 1980.

In order to assess the reliability of the tests "Cronbach's alpha" was calculated. The tests had coefficients equal to or in excess of 0.7.

These tests are quicker than the IEA studies but have a number of other problems: there is no test for science; the maths test was designed in English and regression analyses demonstrated that, despite efforts to minimise this effect, mathematics test scores were, to some extent, dependent on English proficiency; and the tests appear less attractive and interesting (for examples see pages 49-52, Annex A, of http://econwpa.wustl.edu/eps/dev/papers/0504/0504013.pdf).

Quality of Schooling

Caregivers of five-year-olds are asked for their opinion of the quality of the primary school that their child is attending or will attend. Further information about the quality of the school is likely to be gained through the following three questions in the full-sample twelve-year-old questionnaire:

1.5 What are/were the best things about being at school? You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

1.6 What are/were the worst things about being at school? You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

1.10 What are the main reasons you are not currently going to school?You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

While some answers will be irrelevant to school quality, others are likely to reveal if children perceive attending school to be valuable or not, and whether there are specific aspects of the school that they consider to be off poor quality.

Likes and dislikes with reference to school could be considered in more depth through sub-sample qualitative work as follows.

Drawing

Sapkota & Sharma (1996) encouraged children to draw the things they liked best at school and used these as a stimulus for discussion. This method is unlikely to be suitable for twelve-year-olds but could be suitable for those five-year-olds already in pre-school or for the younger cohort in future rounds. However, Johnson's (1996) concerns about the use of drawing as a method should be borne in mind and it may not be suitable for all Young Lives sites.

Guided Tour

In line with the Mosaic Method (Clark & Moss 2005) which has been used to assess the quality of early childhood care from the perspective of four-year-olds, tours of children's schools and/or preschools may elicit discussion on the perceived quality of their education. This is likely to work best if there are a number of Young Lives children in a particular school.

Flow diagrams

Guijt et al. (1994) conducted an extensive study with children in Uganda to highlight some of the issues surrounding school attendance and the impact of the quality of school. For example, children completed a simple flow diagram to demonstrate the effects of aspects of the school environment on children, their decisions to attend and their general wellbeing.

Tabulation

Guijt et al. (1994) also investigated in more depth why children were dropping out of school in Uganda. They drew a simple table on the ground and inserted reasons for dropping out down the left-hand side and years of primary schooling along the top. Children positioned sticks at the relevant point in the table to indicate the reasons they thought children dropped out at different stages of education, the length of the stick indicated how many drop out at that stage. This could provide an interesting comparison with the answers to question 3.10 "What are the main reasons you are not currently attending school" but should also stimulate discussion about the quality of schooling and the relative merits of academic achievement compared to other skills.

3.1.2 Work

Work is another arena for cultural competence development, through formal and informal vocational training, and more indirectly. It also sometimes prevents children going to school, where they acquire other cultural competencies as discussed above). The twelve-year-old questionnaire includes a couple of questions that may elicit information about the skills and experiences gained through work:

1.10 What are the main reasons you are not currently going to school? (Fieldworker circle all that apply, do not prompt) [One pre-coded answer is 'Going out to work gave me better prospects']

What are the main things you like about NAME OF PRIMARY JOB? [One pre-coded answer is 'Skills and training']

What are the main things you dislike about NAME OF PRIMARYJOB? [One pre-coded answer is 'Less time for school.'

However, these questions do not directly address vocational skills and the perceived value of work experience and may elicit many other answers. Consequently, this is an important area for further sub-sample work.

The impact of work on children – Flow Diagrams

Guijt et al. (1994) encouraged children in Uganda to produce flow diagrams representing the impact on the standard of living of children who no longer go to school. Discussion around such a diagram could focus on the acquisition of skills through work and the relative value of school and work.

Hard Choices

Woodhead (1998) developed a procedure for helping children to compare the relative merits of school and work. Picture cards representing 'school' and 'work' were placed side by side and then children were asked to judge which is best for them, in their present family circumstances: only going to work/being a working child; only going to school/being a schoolchild; going to work and attending school. This led to a discussion about whether it was possible to attend school and work together and also what the benefits of each were. These discussions demonstrate the constraints within which children operate but also give some scope for understanding the perceived benefits of work for acquiring skills and experience. It must be noted, however, that this question may have to be directly asked, perhaps in the form: "How does work prepare you for the future?"

The 'good things' and the 'bad things'

In Woodhead (1998), a picture of school and a picture of the child's occupation were used along with a sad face and a happy face to prompt discussion about the good things about being a working child, which made them happy, pleased, proud, or confident, and the bad things, which made them sad, frightened, angry, and bored. In this exercise, skills training, independence, self-esteem, and social relationships were three major themes in the positive aspects of work, second to the economic benefits of working. In fact, 46% of the groups of girls indicated that developing strength and skills was a benefit of working. Therefore, this exercise may elicit useful information about the acquisition of certain cultural competencies, as well as revealing more about the lived experience of working children. This exercise was done with working children and would make little sense in its current form for children who do no paid work.

3.1.3 Other Life Skills

Cultural competencies are broader than vocational skills and educational skills and include those life skills that are important for getting by in life. These may be taught through basic education (Chinipah 1997) but may also be passed on by relatives or friends.

Monitoring Learning Achievement scales

Chinapah (1997) in UNESCO's handbook on Monitoring Learning Achievement (MLA), identified numeracy, literacy and life skills among the basic competencies defined as the desirable outcomes of basic education. Within this understanding,

"Life skills refer to the basic educational skills that human beings need for their survival and to develop their intellectual potential to improve the quality of their lives."

Consequently, UNESCO's protocol for monitoring learning achievement covers aspects of problem-solving and social skills in the areas of health/hygiene/nutrition; everyday life; social and natural environments. This protocol was piloted in five countries, and then run in a further 22 countries, including India. It is a model that can be replicated in any country because it allows a degree of flexibility in the formulation of questions around a competence or theme.

The following are examples of questions about health and hygiene (Chinapah 1997:27):

The doctor goes to the school to vaccinate children. Why is it important to be vaccinated?

□ a. to grow more quickly

□ b. to avoid catching certain serious illnesses

C. to be more intelligent

□ d. to cure certain serious illnesses (Jordan)

Ali is ill. Ali's mother must give him medicine. How should she go about this?

 \Box a. she gives the amount prescribed by the doctor

□ b. she gives Ali a lot of medicine so he gets better more quickly

C. she gives Ali the same amount as she gave him last time he was sick

 \Box d. she gives him the same amount as a neighbour, who has the same illness as Ali (Morocco)

If you have diarrhoea for one or many days, whom will you consult?

- a. a traditional healer
- D. a marabout
- C. a doctor
- d. I do not know (Mali)

Your little sister is ill, you touch her forehead, and it is very hot. Which of the following instruments would you use to see if she has a fever? [Show pictures of stethoscope, thermometer, and syringe)

(Mauritius)

Before eating, you must always:

- a. wash your face
- □ b. wash your hands
- C. comb your hair
- d. I do not know

(Mali)

In Chinipah (1997) there are more examples of questions on nutrition, battery use, cooking, electric storms, road safety, millet crops, sewage disposal, fire safety, own country flag recognition, what to do when you find a watch.

Although originally administered through a self-completion questionnaire, these questions could be used in a semi-structured interview, with the interviewer reading out the optional answers, presenting a number of visuals from which to choose the correct response, or collecting open-ended answers. If the collective skill level of a group was of interest, this could be collected through focus group discussions (FGD) on these topics.

The body map exercise below (3.2.3) would also allow for discussions about children's understanding of diseases and treatments.

What if?

The life skills assessed by the MLA protocol might also be explored through semistructured methods such as a FGD or interview based on the 'What If?' method. For example, scenarios could cover issues such as:

What if a child in your family is ill? What should you do?

What if someone in your family has worms? What precautions should you take?

What if you have diarrhoea? Who will you consult?

What if you cut your hand? What should you do?

What if you are ill and need medicine? How many should you take?

Activity Tables & Worksheets

Punch (2001) reports various ways in which she came to appreciate the skills acquired by children through their daily activities and chores. For example, she asked children to fill in a list of the agricultural, animal-related, and domestic tasks they knew how to do. This method also collected information about children's daily activities, their enjoyment of these tasks, and whether this task was seasonal or all-year. Consequently, it covers many of the issues addressed in section 3.3 below. However, the aspect of 'know-how' was included and emphasised further through worksheets which elaborated on the information gathered through activity tables. One of these worksheets asked children who did what tasks in the household, who helped with the tasks, who never did them and at what age people learnt to do the task. This information would give a good indication of the life skills obtained through domestic chores at different ages.

Both these tasks were conducted in a classroom but could be used with groups of Young Lives children in communities or individually. Both would need to be adapted for those who were illiterate or had problems with their reading and writing. Similar questions could be used in interviews or group discussions.

3.2 Psychosocial Capacities

The term 'psychosocial' is used here to describe the psychological, social and cultural factors that influence well-being, after the definition developed by the Psychosocial Working Group (2003). The focus on capacities reflects the recognition that children often demonstrate great resilience in the face of adversity to the extent that this can be understood to be 'ordinary' (Masten 2001: 227). However, different aspects of poverty are hypothesised to affect children's psychosocial capacities in different ways. For example, children's agency (their ability and opportunity to make their own decisions) will be influenced by the facets of poverty in which they grow up. This may increase or decrease their feelings of self-efficacy, self-esteem, and shame. Those who are able to help their families report a sense of pride and responsibility (Woodhead 1998, Punch 2004) whereas the poorest of the poor often report feelings of shame and low self-esteem, because of the stigmatisation and discrimination they experience, as well as their limited opportunities for change (Boyden et al. 2003).

Section 11 of the full-sample twelve-year-old questionnaire attempts to address some psychosocial capacities and the contexts in which children live along three dimensions: stigma and discrimination; pride and shame; agency. The method used in the questionnaire is a Likert-type response scale in which children indicate their dis-/agreement with various statements in terms of how much they sound like themselves. The individual items will be included below. Pride, shame, and agency will be discussed in this section because they are psychosocial capacities whereas stigma and discrimination will be discussed in section 3.4 because it relates more to how children are treated. Obviously, these concepts are related and should be analysed together but are separated here to allow other instruments to be discussed alongside them. Firstly, however, follows a brief discussion of Likert-type scales, which is relevant to sections 11 and 13 of the questionnaire.

Likert Scales

Likert-type scales have been widely administered as pen and pencil questionnaires to adults in industrialised nations to measure a variety of attitudes. They have also been used with adults in Thailand (Criswell & Ariyabuddhiphongs 2005), Mexico, and Latin America (Santiago et al. 2003) and with adolescents in Nigeria (Slap et al 2003).

While psychology undergraduates, and many in the West used to psychometric testing, may find it possible to answer a question such as 'I am happy with myself', children in the developing world who are less used to introspection in general, find it easier to answer questions that make the context or determinants specific. Consequently, questions need to be contextualised so that children find them easier to answer.

In order to make it easier to understand the scale, a visual representation of the response categories will be required. Some modification of Rossiter (1977)'s small and big tick boxes may be helpful, combined with a culturally valid marker of agreement/disagreement or yes/no. For example, using pictures of 'thumbs up' and 'thumbs down' or ticks and crosses. Loughry et al (2005) used different sizes of triangle to indicate the responses 'rarely', 'sometimes,' and 'usually'. Bourai (1997) reports using a small ladder made of natural items such as twigs, and allowing participants to point out on the ladder the extent of their agreement. Griesel et al (2004) recognised that conventional rating scales used in attitude

research make assumptions about participants' familiarity with the language and procedure of rating scales. Working with children in South Africa, they invited participants to indicate the extent of agreement with a statement by using a line on a gradient:

Very important

Not at all important

Even using this visual aid, the method had to be reviewed with children several times before they fully understood it (Griesel et al. 2004).

Because the statements will have to be read out by the fieldworker, there is possibility for some confusion for the child if they are being asked to respond to the statement about themselves. For this reason, it needs to be emphasised that the child needs to respond to whether this sounds 'like me' or not but this should not be an insurmountable problem (Greaney and Neuman 1990). Theis (1996) reports from his work in Vietnam, that having a visual intermediary is often a useful tool in research with children so a model or puppet that represents the child and moves along the scale might be useful. To visually illustrate the model represents the child, Martin Woodhead suggested writing the child's name on the model on a removable sticker (personal communication, November 2005).

The proposed Likert scale has four points with a 'don't know' option included in the coding, as for other questions in the questionnaire, if children really cannot answer. Rossiter (1977) demonstrate that this enabled the maximum level of discrimination for US eight/nine-year-olds while Sa'di (2001) notes that there has been concern over the suitability of a five point Likert scale for Western children of this age. Although the children in the Young Lives study are older, they may not be literate and may be less familiar with being asked their opinion. The absence of a mid-point is "advisable to prevent children opting for 'don't know' as a means of avoiding the question" (Rossiter 1977: 180). Five or more points can be overwhelming for children whereas three points approximates to 'yes', 'no' and 'don't know' so may not add much value.

This method will need to be piloted thoroughly to establish its suitability for the age group and whether the concepts are intelligible in different contexts and languages. Practise questions also need to be included such as "I like eating rice" or "I hate spaghetti" (adapted from Loughry et al. 2005)

It is important to clarify that none of the scales suggested for use in the questionnaire have yet demonstrated reliability in the Young Lives cultural contexts, with the possible exception of the parental expectations scale (Slap et al. 2003). Consequently, they might need to be analysed as single items. However, each group of questions might prove to be a reliable scale. Their validity would also need to be assessed through comparison with qualitative work.

3.2.1 Agency and Self-efficacy

Efficacy can be understood as "a child's sense of agency or mastery" or their sense of competence (Brewer 2003: 93) and corresponds to other psychological concepts in psychology: an internal locus of control; the opposite of helplessness. The following items from Section 11 of the twelve-year-old questionnaire address agency and self-efficacy. 11.15 and 11.21 are only asked if this child is in school or work respectively.

- 4.1.2 AG1 If I try hard, I can improve my situation in life [+]
- 4.1.3 AG2 Other people in my family make all the decisions about how I spend my time
- 4.1.4 AG3 I like to make plans for my future studies and work [+]
- 4.2.3 AG4 If I study hard at school I will be rewarded by a better job in future [+]
- 4.3.2 AG5 I have no choice about the work I do I must work

These questions are derived in part from Brewer's (2003) review of psychosocial instruments for use with child domestic workers in developing world contexts.

In the second part of the feelings and attitudes section in the twelve-year-old questionnaire (Section 4b), the following question addresses children's perceived satisfaction with their life and their perceived ability to improve their situation. Since most children's power increases with age, a negative answer to question 4.9 will indicate that children have significantly reduced perceived agency.

- 4.8 There are nine steps on this ladder. Suppose we say that the ninth step, at the very top represents the best possible life for you and the bottom represents the worst possible life for you. Where on the ladder do you feel you personally stand at the present time?
- 4.9 Do you think you will be able to move up the ladder in order to improve your situation in the next four years?
- 4.10 How far do you think you will be able to move up the ladder?

Other scale measures

Griesel et al. (2004) in their analysis of the psychological outcomes of a children's participatory urban environment improvement project developed a scale for the measurement of feelings of self-efficacy. As Bandura (1997, cited in Griesel 2004: 284) argues, self-efficacy needs to be understood within a specific context. Griesel et al. (2004) developed a Likert-type response scale with the programme directors and fieldworkers to cover self-efficacy in six areas: social issues and issues to do with peer groups; school; independence; personal achievement and environment. The measure had 42 items in all. Each item consisted of a behaviour (for example "It is important that people listen to what you say") and children had to rate each item firstly for importance and secondly for the extent to which they match this behaviour. Children's self-efficacy score was calculated by

weighting the self-descriptive estimates in terms of the idealised estimates, so giving an indication of how much children were able to live up to their own ideals. This scale had good internal reliability.

While some of the questions in the full-sample questionnaire cited above are contextualised, more will be understood about children's feelings of self-efficacy through more specific investigations. These specific behaviours and contexts would need to be identified through discussion with children and local country teams.

Qualitative Methods: Aspirations and Wishes

Woodhead (1998) included some questions in 'Who Matters' that ask questions about children's autonomy with relation to important people. However, this is more appropriately addressed within the framework of inter-household power dynamics covered in section 2.2. The construct of interest here is how these and other issues in children's lives have an impact on their feelings of self-efficacy. One way to investigate this is through exploration of children's aspirations although this measures efficacy in a slightly different way: with regard to the future instead of the day-to-day.

The making of plans and aspirations seems to be common to children in many contexts, regardless of whether they are achievable or not (see for example the aspirations of South African girls in townships with low social mobility Kritzinger, 2002, cited in Brewer 2003).

Zur (1990) also report asking children in Guatemala to complete the following sentence: 'When I grow up I want to be....and do not want to be....'. However, asking a similar question of eight-year-olds in the Round 1 questionnaire proved difficult to answer. Consequently, such questions need to be asked in a more open-ended way and provide a clearer context for children to imagine. For example, asking children what job they want to be doing in x year's time, and what they think they will be doing then might be easier to answer.

The questionnaire for twelve-year-olds includes the following two questions about aspirations:

- 6.1 What job would you most like to do in the future?
- 6.2 When you are about 30 years old, what job do you think you will be doing?

Moss (2001) interviewed girls in South India about their schooling, material, and social aspirations and about the girl's older sister to compare aspirations and actual outcomes. This is obviously a flawed method because birth order and changes in the culture and opportunities could change outcomes for the younger girls. In Young Lives, we would be able to compare children's aspirations with their actual futures. However, what is of interest here is the extent and nature of children's plans and discussions of how they expect life to turn out could yield interesting information about their sense of efficacy.

Punch (2004) reports using worksheets addressing children's aspirations and plans.

Role-playing or theatre may further demonstrate children's plans and aspirations. Children could act out their lives in three, five, seven, and/or ten years from now. How they feel about doing this, the ease with which they can 'plan' their futures, as well as the actual themes they follow, would yield interesting perspectives on their perceived self-efficacy.

It is important to note again that these methods would not necessarily give information about children's efficacy in their present situation and may better be understood as 'hopes' or 'apathy'.

3.2.2 Pride and Shame

Pride and shame are more 'everyday' words for the psychological concept of self-esteem. Contextualising the questions makes them easier for children to answer and also recognises that such feelings are likely to depend on the situation.

4.1.4 PS1 I feel proud to show my friends or other visitors where I live [+]

4.1.8 PS2 I am ashamed of my clothes

4.1.9 PS3 I feel proud of the job my [INSERT RELATIONSHIP TO CHILD OF HOUSEHOLD HEAD] does [+]

4.2.1 PS4 I am often embarrassed because I do not have the right books, pencils and other equipment for school

4.2.5 PS5 I am proud of my achievements at school [IF NECESSARY PROMPT: IN READING/SPORT/MATHS] [+]

4.3.1 PS6 I am embarrassed by/ashamed of the work I have to do.

4.3.3 PS7 The job I do makes me feel proud [+]

4.6 [If yes] Why do you feel proud? (Fieldworker circles all that apply. Do not prompt)

Who Matters?

As part of this activity (see section 2.1.1), Woodhead (1998) asked children to focus on themselves in the picture and explored their view of themselves, their confidence, self-esteem and pride by asking, "What makes you feel good about yourself? What are you proud of? What makes you feel bad about yourself? What are you ashamed of?" Comparing individual children's answers in these open-ended discussions with answers to the 'Pride & Shame' questions in the questionnaire might help to demonstrate the validity of the questions in the full-sample questionnaire.

3.2.3 Well-being

A more general approach to psychosocial capacities is to measure perceived well-being.

"The concept of well-being indicates an evaluation that is focused on the quality of the person's 'being'. Well-being is thus a vague concept that can span various aspects of life and is subject to normative debate, rather than a sharply and consensually defined thing."

(Gasper 2004: 13)

In fact, one definition of well-being is linked closely with feelings of agency and selfefficacy:

"Human well-being is taken here to be not just a set of objective circumstances, such as having enough food or shelter but these combined with people's own evaluations of whether they are achieving what they aspire to achieve."

(Bevan et al. 2005: 17)

Therefore, analysis of agency and aspirations (section 3.2.1) will contribute to the measurement of well-being. Here, we are considering subjective well-being as opposed to objective well-being: feelings as opposed to non-feelings (Gasper 2004). For this reason, the most important place to start is to identify the criteria by which well-being is understood in particular cultures or communities.

Well-being Exercise

Armstrong et al. (2004) adapted this method for use with adolescents in Sri Lanka from Jon Hubbard's functioning exercise, developed at the Centre for Victims of Torture, Minneapolis. Small groups (less than eight people) were asked to think of a girl or boy who, in their opinion, is doing well in life. They draw a stick figure to represent that person then write four things that suggest to them the child is doing well. These should then be discussed and the discussion noted down by the facilitator to ensure that any differences in spoken and written vernacular descriptions are obtained. Phrasing has to be carefully used to avoid obtaining causal reasons why the child might be doing well. The results can be considered indicators of wellbeing.

This exercise could be completed for different ages and genders to get the specific indicators of each group interested in.

Body Maps

A further method used by Armstrong et al. (2004) to elicit information about well-being and ill-being was the body map method. One child was drawn around on a big sheet of paper (by two other children of the same sex who both like drawing) to give a human outline. Children were then asked to think about what makes them feel bad or feel sick and identify the body part or place in the body that feels bad by drawing it on the body. They then had a discussion about the causes of these conditions, cures and who might be able to help them. Therefore, this method could link in with the life-skills section above. However, for the purposes of understanding concepts of well-being, this method yields data on psychological and emotional wellbeing and ill-being as well as physical ailments, especially in cultures where psychological problems have more obvious somatic symptoms.

Interviews

Once the criteria for well-being have been obtained, it would be interesting to conduct a semi-structured interview or another activity with individual children to ascertain how well they are doing on the meaningful criteria.

Culturally appropriate Surveys

Loughry et al. (2005) developed a scale for assessing Afghan children's psychosocial well-being based on insightful ethnographic work by de Berry (2003) which revealed three domains relevant to well-being for psychosocial well-being in Afghanistan: relationships, feelings, and positive coping in difficult circumstances. Once introduced to these concepts, local Afghan agency staff helped Loughry et al. to develop a 23-item questionnaire that covered these three domains. Focus groups of children and teachers also discussed the items. Loughry et al. chose to collect the information in a survey because they were told it would not be appropriate to conduct individual interviews with children. Children had to indicate their rating of 'rarely', 'sometimes' or 'usually' by circling or pointing to a triangle or small, medium or large size respectively.

If ethnographic work about well-being exists in Young Lives sites, it could be used in this way to develop either a written survey or a semi-structured interview. Otherwise, using the information from the wellbeing exercise could be formed into a survey in this way.

Surveys developed from these criteria could be given to the full sample in future Young Lives rounds. If this were to be done, children in all the different Young Lives contexts should be asked to develop indicators of well-being for the relevant ages for future Young Lives rounds for cohort one (ages eight; 11; 14) and cohort two (ages 15; 18; 21). However, it should be borne in mind that indicators of well-being will probably change over the coming ten years and the data collected this time would be the specific perceptions of a group of twelve-year-olds. Consequently, the well-being exercise may need to be repeated regularly and with different age groups.

3.3 Functioning

Poverty impacts on children's time use and functioning, for example through their contribution to the household's poverty reduction strategies, including paid and unpaid work and migration. Young Lives is also interested in children's own strategies, the success of different strategies, and the effects of policies on poverty reduction.

3.3.1 Time use

Section 1 addresses many areas relevant to the issue of time use. As well as asking about the child's enrolment in school, children are asked the following questions about the actual amount of school they have attended and/or missed:

1.9 During the last 12 months, have you missed more than one week of school at any one time?

1.10.1 Why? You can give up to three answers but please give the most usual one first.

1.10.2 How many weeks school have you missed for this reason?

1.11 In which month did most of these absences (periods away from school) occur, if any?

1.11 will allow for some indication of seasonal variations in school attendance.

The following questions begin to address what the child does on a daily basis. Caregivers are also asked how much time children spend on various categories of activity (leisure, education, work etc).

1.19.1 Which of the following activities did you do yesterday/on xxx day (last working/school day)? (Range of school, domestic chores and leisure activities)

1.19.2 Who were you with when doing this activity?

1.19.3 Which of the above activities did you spend most time doing yesterday/ on xxx day (last working day)? (Rank first three activities)

Thus, there is an attempt to assess what the child does and also some aspect of the relative amount of time spent. However, the issue needs to be addressed in a lot more depth through sub-sample work:

Johnson (1996:3) notes that 'collecting information about children's daily lives can usually be successful with any age group'. The following methods have been used with a range of age groups and some will be suitable even for the younger cohort of four/five-year-olds. Some of this information could be gathered for different individuals within each household, to allow for intra-household comparisons of labour and time use.

Drawings

Some researchers report asking children to draw pictures of what they do 'outside of school' (Sapkota & Sharma 1996) or more generally (Harpham et al. 2005). However, Sapkota and Sharma (1996) note that some children copied each other, which obviously reduces the reliability of results and children should be spread out where possible to avoid this. A more serious issue is the interpretation of drawings: "It is unethical and unscientific for a researcher to interpret people's drawings and diagrams without consulting them." (Ennew and Plateau 2004: 207)

Harpham et al. (2005) did attempt to interpret children's drawings but found some more difficult to interpret than others while (Punch 2004) advocates asking children why they are drawing things as well as what they are drawing. This could be a useful method to 'warm up' young children (Harpham et al. 2005) but only if they are used to the materials (Johnson 1996) and not intimidated by the luxuries of a clean sheet of paper and pencils. However, this method is unlikely to be suitable for older children, who may be more conscious of their lack of artistic ability (Punch 1997).

Daily diaries

One way to collect information about children's daily lives is to ask them to keep a diary (Punch 1997). This depends on literacy, unless a tick list with pictures or colours could be inserted for each half hour slot, in which case some basic information could be gathered from illiterate children (Boyden and Ennew 1997). Punch (1997) notes that children give partial accounts and do not, for example, note down when they are doing more than one thing at a time such combining work and play. Sapkota and Sharma (1996) report that they needed to emphasise the importance of noting simultaneous activities, such as mending nets while herding cattle, but that children got bored with this exercise, especially those who were illiterate. A further potential issue is that parents sometimes resent the fact that children use diary-writing as an excuse for not doing other chores, causing tension in the home (Punch 1997).

Recall

Johnson (1995) collected time allocation data for children by asking for the routine of the previous day for 15-20 days for each household member. Similarly, White (1975) asked children what they did for the previous 24 hours, noting both the activity and the duration. He coded the activities as 'useful' (care of smaller children, household chores, collecting firework) and 'productive' (production outside agriculture, animal care and feeding, non-agricultural wage labour, exchange or communal labour, agriculture).

Harpham et al. (2005) collected information about time use on a typical day. However, this is a difficult task for children and adults whereas asking for what children did yesterday or on a specific day yields much more specific, concrete and reliable information.

Boyden and Ennew (1997) compared data collected a recall and a diary task and demonstrated that information collected through recall includes more feelings and reflections but less specific times and details. For this reason, the choice of recall or diaries will determine what kind of data we collect. In this section we are interested in what children actually do with their time, so diaries would be more appropriate, but for other aspects of this research, we want to know about feelings as well. Reynolds (1991) used a combination of 24 hour-recall and observations to get complete information.

Seasonal Calendars

Although some seasonal variations in school attendance will be revealed by answers to question 1.11, other variations in work patterns and time use will not be highlighted. Johnson (1995) asked children to create seasonal calendars by placing sticks of different lengths on the ground to represent peak labour demands and times of particular disease and labour. Guijt et al. (1994) similarly report constructing seasonal calendars in this way with children in Uganda and used this as basis for discussing what activities children do when and whether these affect their school attendance.

Guided Tours

Guided tours have been used with children as young as four in the UK (Clark & Stratham 2005) and three in South Africa (Reynolds 1989) so they could be used with the younger Young Lives cohort to find out what children do at different times of the day. Since most young children, and some adults in cultures where time is less formally quantified, will find it difficult to give precise durations for their activities, only basic information about time use will be collectable. A further extension of this activity with very young children could be to take photos on the walk and create a map or timetable of their day. However, this is unlikely to be practical given time and budget considerations.

Observation

Observation of children's time use is probably the most comprehensive method but is also the most time consuming. It would preferably be combined with guided tours, so that something of children's reflection on their time use was considered (Clark and Stratham 2005). However, it would provide a good basis for intra-household comparisons of time use as many members could be observed simultaneously.

3.3.2 Work

Children are asked the following questions about work:

1.20 Have you done anything in the last 12 months to get money or things for yourself or your family?

1.21.1 What were these activities?

1.21.2 What form of payment was received or is expected for this activity?

1.21.3 Did you get to keep all or some of the payment for this activity?

1.21.4 Which activity did you spend most time on during the year? (Rank first three)

1.21.5 Were either of your parents present during this activity?

1.22 What do you most like about doing _____ (insert name of primary job)? You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

1.23 What do you least like about doing _____ (insert name of primary job)? You can give up to three answers but please give the most important one first.

1.24 In the last three years, have you missed school because you were working for money or goods?

Further, information on how work affects cultural competencies can be collected as outlined above. However, there is scope for more detailed work on the actual nature and structure of children's work at the sub-sample level.

Interviews

Black (1997) developed a handbook for research with child domestic workers that covers many of the issues around child labour. For example, the key questions to ask concerning the terms of employment are:

How was the child recruited? Has an advance been paid to the child's parents? How much? What are the implications of this advance? Does the employer make deductions for wages? If so, for what? Are any items given in kind? If so, what? Are presents or tips given? If so, how much per year? Is the employment contract oral or written? What agreement was made? Who made it? Are the child's parents clear about the terms of the agreement? Does the child understand the terms?

Further questions about the conditions of work, including the times spent working, the time off allowed, the physical hazards, violence and abuse and other aspects of work more specific to child domestic workers are outlined in this manual.

Which work is best?

In Woodhead (1998) et al, groups of children sorted five or six familiar children's occupations from best to worst using a series of progressive comparisons and picture cards as prompts. First, children judged their own occupation to others so that two piles were formed: 'better than' and 'worse than'. Then children sorted the two piles and laid the cards in rank order. At each stage, children were asked to give their reasons for the choice and were encouraged to reach a consensus. This method yielded information not just about children's 'occupational self-esteem' but also about their potential career plans, within realistic limits (Woodhead 1998: 44). For the purposes of understanding their 'functioning', this tool allows children to talk about and analyse their situation through comparison. Although only group opinions are preserved through this method, it might be possible to adapt this tool for individual use to add depth to the information obtained on individual children's likes and dislikes to do with work in the full-sample questionnaire.

Spider Diagram & Ranking

Baker (1996) used a spider diagram of health problems faced by working children when they were living on the streets, in the village, and at the NGO centre. These were then listed in a table and ranked by consensus on various criteria (frequency, degree of pain, how much it affected work, places where could be treated). Baker reports that this activity was enjoyable and kept the children's interest. This method could be used to discuss and rank the following items:

- illnesses (on the above criteria)
- jobs (similarly to Woodhead (1998))
- lessons at school (On usefulness for daily life, enjoyment, ease, job prospects etc)
- seasons in the year (for amount of work, amount of food available, weather, amount of worry).

In this way, this method could be adapted to assess many different aspects of children's lives and how they function in them.

3.3.3 Migration

The child themselves may have migrated and information on this will be obtained through the full-sample questionnaire. If we are interested on the experience of migration for the child, the first two methods apply. Alternatively, to analyse children's experience and perception of migration more generally, the second two methods below apply. Migration of the child's family members is important to explore because they may be providing remittances and may later provide options for the child's own migration.

Journey Maps

Semi-structured interviews with individual children who have migrated during the course of the Young Lives study should find out why they moved, where they moved, what the experience of moving meant for them in terms of their social, educational, occupational, and material worlds and how much choice they had in moving. One way to help participants to explore these issues may be to ask them to first draw a road with their journey on, illustrating where they started, moved through and where they are now. This could then be a prompt for discussion around the above issues.

Comparison of Old and New homes

If children have only lived in two places, a comparison of these places could be done by dividing a sheet of paper in half and asking them to list the differences between the two places. Exploration of the reasons for the move and children's feelings about their life now and in the past could be explored in this way. Unless many families moved at the same time, this would need to be conducted with individuals.

Maps

Children could construct diagrammatic maps with their home at the centre and all the people who have moved out of their home during their lifetime round the edge. Details about where they are, what they are doing, how often they come home, and whether they send any money back could be elicited from the child. However, it should be noted that

children's knowledge about these matters may be limited and it might be better to perform this task with someone else in the child's home unless children's perspectives were specifically required.

Worksheets

Punch (2004) reports using worksheets to discuss the issue of migration to Argentina with rural Bolivian children. I have not yet found out any more details on the questions she asked.

3.3.4 Analysis of strategies

How successfully children find their way out of poverty will largely be understood through the longitudinal research. However, it may also be possible to gather children's reflections on their poverty reduction strategies through exercises such as 'which work is best' and 'hard choices' outlined above. Further, van Donge et al. (2001) in their analysis of a targeted inputs programme in Malawi, assessed the feelings and attitudes of recipients and non-recipients of the inputs to growing food and to inputs. Respondents were asked to rate different statements on a five-point scale (very true; true; not true; not true at all; no opinion) and then asked for their reasons. The statements covered pride in growing one's food; the links between poverty and growing food and the Targeted Inputs Programme starter pack and included the following:

- Not growing one's food is a reason for shame.
- Ganyu or business is a better way to get food than working on one's own land.
- Food is not the most important crop as one can get money from other crops to buy food.
- Food is the major expense of poor rural families; therefore growing more food is the best way to be less poor.
- Poor people are only really helped by money instead of free maize or more food on the farm.
- People may not grow their own food, but that does not mean that they are poor.
- Free inputs are good for poor people, because loans are for rich people.
- Free inputs make people lazy.

While these statements were designed for use with adults and addressed a specific issue, similar statements could be formulated to address children's perceptions of these and other livelihood issues, as they are likely to have adopted or formulated opinions on these matters.

3.4 Children's Protection, Relationships and Integration

3.4.1 Stigma and Discrimination

Exclusion and discrimination have been identified as particularly important for children in middle childhood. The extent of stigma and discrimination at home, school and work is covered in sections 11 and 13 of the full-sample twelve-year-old old questionnaire, with questions 11.13, 11.14, 11.16, 11.18, and 11.19 applicable to school children only and question 11.22 asked only of working children.

4.1.6 SD1 When I am at shops/a market I am usually treated by others with fairness and with respect [+] 4.1.11 SD2

Adults in my STREET/VILLAGE treat me worse than other children my age

4.4 [If positive] Why do you think this is? (Fieldworker circle all that respondent mentions; do not prompt)

4.2.2 SD3 The other children in my class treat me with respect [+]

4.2.4 SD4 Other pupils in my class tease me at school

4.2.6 SD5 My teachers treat me worse than other children

4.5 [If positive] Why do you think this is? (Fieldworker circle all that respondent mentions; do not prompt)

Diaries

White and Pettit (2004) report a method for monitoring experiences of discrimination and abuse. Unlike many participatory methods, this has been carried out on a large scale. Female residents of 2,000 villages in South India kept visual diaries of aspects of life such as husband's drinking, domestic violence, dalits having to drink out of separate glasses, dalits made to carry dead bodies or dead animals, and whether a girl can select her own husband (Vimalanathan et al., personal communication cited in White and Pettit 2004). Every six months, participants rate these and other aspects of life on a scale of one to five so that aggregate data can give an indication of social change. This could be adapted for use with children by focussing on the most relevant indicators of stigma and discrimination (obtained through focus group discussion) and data could be collected on a daily basis, to avoid the problems associated with recall (see section 3.3).

Picture Cards

Scenarios similar to some of those used by Woodhead (1998) in 'What If?' could be depicted and show children of different castes, ethnic groups, or disabilities. Participants could then be asked questions about what is happening and why, to elicit how important they think these distinctions are. Pictures should include children of the same group as themselves and different groups.

Moral stories

In order to investigate stigma and discrimination at the hands of authority figures, an adaptation of the scenarios used by Lorenc and Branthwaite (1986) might be possible. This method was used to measure evaluations of political violence by English and Northern Irish schoolchildren aged 10 and 11. Short moral stories were read to children, each including violence to or from security forces, parents or teachers. In half the cases, some justification was given for the violence. Children considered and judged these incidents on a Likert-type scale of one to five for their acceptability. We might be able to adapt this method to ask children to judge it for its likelihood or frequency of occurring to elicit differences in experiences and expectations of different groups of children with regard to authority figures. Alternatively, the scenarios could be about children of differently.

3.4.2 Children's social networks

Children's social networks provide sources of economic and practical support in times of need while also being arenas for the development of social skills. For methods to assess the extent, nature and structure of children's social networks and the ways in which these are utilised, see section 2.1 above.

3.4.3 Protection

'Social protection' refers to policies that seek to reduce the vulnerability of low-income households with regard to basic consumption and services through social funds, labour market interventions, and social insurance (World Bank 2005). However, the term 'protection' here is understood to be broader to also cover aspects of 'child protection' such as abuse and exploitation. No questions directly addressing these aspects of protection are addressed in the questionnaire but they are connected to issues such as stigma and discrimination.

Exploitation at work

As already discussed, Black (1997) has produced a comprehensive handbook for discussing issues of exploitation with child domestic workers. Many of these issues generalise to all working children. Further, the 'What If' exercises outlined by Woodhead (1998) also cover issues of exploitation and empowerment at work.

'Good' and 'Bad' Discipline

Ennew and Plateau (2004) have written an entire book on researching the emotional and physical punishment of children. Only some of their methods are cited here but it is a resource worth revisiting. They suggest adapting a method used by Swart (1990, cited in Ennew & Plateau 2004) with street boys in South Africa. Swart asked the boys to draw pictures of people doing 'good' things and people doing 'bad' things and demonstrated that they held relatively conventional values. This method could be used to find out what children consider 'good' and 'bad' methods of discipline and/or conflict resolution. Eliciting their interpretation is key to this process and it could lead to an exploration of the kinds of 'fair' and 'unfair' punishment given to children and for what reasons. If the researcher is trusted enough, this discussion may elicit personal stories.

Community Map

A further suggestion by Ennew and Plateau (2004) is to ask groups of children to indicate on a map of their community those places where they feel 'safe' and 'dangerous'. This could prompt discussion of the reasons why.

Social Map

Information about the home, including domestic abuse, was also elicited through the social map exercise as conducted by Armstrong et al. (2004).

Body Map

The method for the creation of body maps is discussed above in section 3.2.3. To investigate issues surrounding physical punishment or abuse, the researcher could ask children to mark on the map those 'places used for punishment', 'places that hurt', 'private places' or 'vulnerable places' (Ennew & Plateau 2004). A more subtle approach may be to conduct the body map exercise as noted above since this did elicit some answers relating to physical punishment.

Focus Group Discussion around visual stimuli

Ennew and Plateau (2004) also suggest using visual stimuli (photos, drawings, a photoessay, posters, films or videos) to elicit discussion about discipline and punishment using questions such as "What do you think is happening?" "Who do you think they are?" "What is this?" "What does this show?" or "What does this mean?" These visual stimuli need to be appropriate for the age and context of the children, preferably developed by other children.

Essays

As noted above, essays have been used to obtain young people's opinions about punishment: 'who punishes me and why'. While dependent on literacy and requiring clear instruction, this method can allow for high comparability.

Time use and recall

Ennew and Plateau (2004) suggest collecting data on the discipline and punishment children receive alongside information about other activities. This can be through as-it-happens recording of events or through recall. The former is best for getting details while the latter is best for information about routines or one-time events. The period covered could be a day, week, year or lifetime but only recall would be possible for the latter two in Young Lives.

Frequency ranking

To investigate what types of punishment are given to children, Ennew and Plateau (2004) suggest asking single-sex groups of children to list different punishments they receive and then rank them according to frequency. This can lead into discussion about differences between genders or different groups and whether these are fair. This exercise could also be done individually if the child was comfortable enough with the researcher and if individual data was required, for example if this data was wanted for comparison with other aspects of the child's life such as poverty and his/her relationship with parents.

Investigating cash transfer programs

Cash transfer programmes focusing on children are currently a major policy issue that fall into the realm of social protection. Schemes are being launched in Peru and piloted in Ethiopia. Save the Children UK and others have researched the effectiveness of these programmes for individual children and conducted interviews with children as part of this process. Only brief details of the methods and methodology are given but a manual by Devereux and Marshall (2005) about the methodology will be available on-line soon.

3.5 Subjective Views

While many of the above methods have by necessity collected subjective views, and children's criteria for well-being have been addressed, this section will address methods for collection children's views of poverty specifically, their perception of problems, risks and resources and methods to use with young children to begin to access their subjective views.

3.5.1 Perceptions of Poverty

Caregivers and twelve-year-olds asked the following questions13:

6.10 At the moment, how would you describe the circumstances of the household you are living in?

01=Very rich, 02=Rich, 03=Comfortable – can manage to get by, 04=Never have quite enough, struggle to get by, 05=Poor, 06=Destitute

6.11 Compared to other households in NAME OF VILLAGE/SUBURB, would you describe your household at the moment as: 01=The richest, 02=Among the richest, 03=Richer than most households, 04=About Average, 05=A little poorer than most households, 06=Among the poorest, 07=The poorest

Wealth-ranking exercises have been used with children as well as adults to assess children's perceptions of who is poor and why (for example Harpham et al. 2005).

3.5.2 Risks and Resources in the Environment

The following questions in the full-sample questionnaire address children's views of their surrounding environment:

Think about _____ (name VILLAGE/SUBURB/STREET)

12.1 What are the best things about living here?

12.2 What are the worst things about living here?

Мар

Armstrong et al. (2004) asked children to draw a map of their immediate surroundings, home, community and the places they visit and then to identify the things that they find threatening or dangerous as well as the things/people/institutions that they perceive as sources of support. The authors note that some things, such as the sea, could be both a risk and a resource and that children do not tend to link risks and resources. This could be because risks are reduced when there is an easily identifiable resource: a focus group discussion around the map might elicit these and other links.

Ranking of dangers

Dubrow & Garbarino (1989) asked mothers in poor housing in Chicago to identify the most dangerous risks faced by their children and order them into three piles, representing most serious, fairly serious, and least serious. Answers from these mothers were compared with those of a similar socio-economic demographic group living in different area in Chicago. Similarly, the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children (2001, 2) asked adolescents in Sudan and Uganda to rank their top ten out of 20 pre-selected concerns. While the latter method guarantees that results are comparable, the former allows participants to identify their biggest concerns in their own words and is therefore preferable. To make the question easier for children to answer, the wording could be more specific, for example 'safety risks' or 'hazards', depending on the data required. Ranking these ideas, either in piles or individually, allows for some ordering of the data. Ranking could be according to 'seriousness', 'frequency', and/or 'likelihood'.

3.5.3 Likes and Dislikes

Even very young children's likes and dislikes about daily activities and specific situations can be obtained through various methods. While potentially eliciting more general information, these methods will provide an interesting comparison with and validity test for questions concerning likes and dislikes obtained through the child questionnaires in Round 1 onwards.

Ringing likes and dislikes

Theis (1996) asked children to list all the activities they do in a day and then ring the activities they liked and put a box around those they disliked. This task was demonstrated on the chalkboard, using pictures. This method could be adapted for one-to-one work with illiterate children by asking them to select pictures of their daily activities and then choose and talk about the ones they like most and least. Discussion around these topics could elicit information on many of the above issues, including stigma, discrimination, shame and low self-esteem, but only if a relationship of trust has been established and only if the researcher is skilled in this area.

Activities for very young children

Miller (1997) identifies several methods to use with children aged 2 and over that could be adapted for work with the younger cohort from Round 2 onwards. These methods included acting out stories, scenarios and feelings, and asking children to demonstrate whether certain activities made them feel happy or sad by standing in the happy/sad line, by putting their fingers up or down, by wearing the smiley or sad mask, or by pointing to the happy or

sad face. If such diagrammatic representations of facial expressions prove to be valid, these methods may work in Young Lives contexts with groups of children or individual children. Examples of scenarios or situations children need to respond to could include:

- going to preschool/nursery
- helping mum/dad
- being in the house with mum/dad.

Work and School - the 'bad things' and the 'good things'

This would be an expansion and validity test of the above questions and questions about school. In Woodhead (1998), a picture of school and a picture of the children's occupation were used along with a sad face and a happy face to prompt discussion about the good things about being a working child, which made them happy, pleased, proud, or confident, and the bad things, which made them sad, frightened, angry, and bored.

4. Concluding Remarks

In reviewing the methods available for the full- and sub-sample research with children in the next and subsequent rounds of Young Lives data collection, it has become clear that some areas are well covered by existing methods, tools, and instruments whereas others provide opportunities for designing new methods. For example, there is a wealth of methods for the investigation of children's social support, social networks, time use, children's views about what they like and dislike and their perception of risks and resources. Conversely, it seems that few methods have been developed for investigating children's views and experiences of migration or analysing the success of their poverty reduction strategies. Further, few measures have been designed in non-Western contexts for the investigation of social skills and psychosocial capacities.

Consequently, varying challenges will be faced when designing the different aspects of Young Lives research. Where little research has previously been done in an area, the hard work lies in the design and piloting of new methods. Various suggestions have been made throughout this paper for new methods but these should be seen as starting points for discussion and design rather than ready-to-use tools. Those areas that have been well covered in previous research present a different challenge: they need to be implemented in ways, which ensure that the data collected do not merely replicate previous findings, but contribute to the field in new ways. This may be achieved through the implementation of methods on a larger scale, in many different countries, allowing for comparison between sites and countries, or through the design of methods that complement the full-sample quantitative questionnaires. In other areas, instruments exist but will need extensive adaptation and may need validating for Young Lives contexts. For example, the PPVT-R and the educational achievement scales will need adapting so that they are meaningful to participants and accurately assess their ability.

The suitability of the various methods will become clearer as the procedural constraints around the research are discovered. For example, some of the methods will only be appropriate if many Young Lives children attend the same school and the school is happy to help with the administration of the instrument. Similarly, some methods, particularly those adapted from PRA and RRA are more suitable for use in groups to gain aggregate information about the children in one community or sub-section of the community but this will be more possible in some Young Lives sites than others. Other methods will work best if other children in the family are also included or if fieldworkers are able to work with children over longer periods.

Some attempts have been made to demonstrate the pros and cons of different methods reported in this paper. Given the relative advantages and disadvantages of different methods within sections, it seems that a key to this research will be using a variety of methods to address each sub-question. This process is known as 'triangulation' and is advocated by many researchers with experience in participatory research with children (Punch 1997, Clark and Stratham 2005). In this paper, the methods have been somewhat artificially separated into different sections. However, many methods can usefully address more than one topic, which will add further depth and texture to the findings while making good use of the time.

5. References

Alderson, P. (2000) Young Children's Rights. Exploring Beliefs, Principles and Practice, Children in Charge Series 10, London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Armstrong, M., Boyden, J., Galappatti, A. and Hart, J. (2004) *Piloting Methods for the Evaluation of Psychosocial Programme Impact in Eastern Sri Lanka*, Final Report for USAID, Oxford: Refugee Studies Centre, http://www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/PDFs/rrpilotingmethods04.pdf

Baker, R. (1996) 'PRA with street children in Nepal' *PLA Notes* 25: 56-60, London: IIED http://www.iied.org/NR/agbioliv/pla_notes/pla_backissues/25.html

Bevan, P., Pankhurst, A., Newton, J., Tadele, F., Johnson, S. and McGregor, A. (2005) 'The importance of understanding the "local", *Africa after 2005: from promises to policy*, Development Studies Association and Economic and Social Research Council

Black, M. (1997) 'Child Domestic Workers: A handbook for research and action' *Child Labour Series* 15. London: Anti-Slavery International http://www.antislavery.org/homepage/resources/CDWresearchhandbook.pdf

Bourai, V.A., Bahadur, S.R., Panwa, K.M., Mishra, K.M. (1997) 'Props for research' *PLA Notes* 28: 91-92, London: IIED http://www.iied.org/NR/agbioliv/pla_notes/documents/plan_02821.PDF

Boyden, J. and Ennew, J. (1997) *Children in focus: a manual for participatory research with children*, Stockholm: Rädda Barnen

Boyden, J., Eyber, C., Feeny, T. and Scott, C. (2003) *Children and Poverty: Experiences and Perceptions from Belarus, Bolivia, India, Kenya & Sierra Leone*, Virginia: Christian Children's Fund

http://www.christianchildrensfund.org/uploadedFiles/Public_Site/news/Relief_professionals/ ChildrenandPoverty-%20Paper%201%20-%20Intro%20to%20DEV.pv5.pdf

Brewer, S.E. (2003) *Instrument for Assessing the Psychological Effects of Child Domestic Work*, London: Anti-Slavery International, August

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments by Nature and Design*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press

Chinapah, V. (1997) Handbook on Monitoring Learning Achievement: Towards Capacity Building, Paris: UNESCO

Clark, A. and Moss, P. (2005) *Listening to Young Children: The Mosaic Approach*, London: National Children's Bureau

Clark, A. and Stratham, J. (2005) 'Listening to young children: Experts in their own lives' *Adoption and Fostering* 29(1): 45-56

Cousins, J. (1999) *Listening to four- year-olds. How they can help us plan their education and care*, London: National Early Years Network

Criswell, A. & Ariyabuddhiphongs, V. (2005) *Life Satisfaction in Asian Households: A model of Health, Family Life and Money* Høgskolen i Hedmark Rapport nr. 11, http://fulltekst.bibsys.no/hihm/rapport/2005/11/rapp11_2005.pdf

Daley, T.C., Whaley, S.E., Sigman, M.D., Guthrie, D., Neumann, C.G. and Bwibo, N. (2005) 'Background and classroom correlates of child achievement, cognitive, and behavioural outcomes in rural Kenyan schoolchildren' *International Journal of Behavioural Development* 29(5): 399-408

Dawes, A. (1992) 'Political and Moral Learning in Contexts of Political Conflict', paper prepared for course *The Mental Health of Refugee Children Exposed to Violent Environments*, Refugee Studies Programme, University of Oxford, 6-10 January.

De Berry, J. (2003). *The children of Kabul: Research on their psychosocial well-being.* Kabul: Save the Children Federation & UNICEF. http://www.unicef.org/media/media_12049.html

Devereux, S. and Marshall, J. (2005) *Methodology Manual for research on cash transfers*

Dubrow, N. and Garbarino, J. (1989) 'Living in a War Zone: Mothers and Young Children in a Public Housing Development', *Child Welfare*, 68 (1): 3-21

Duncan, G.J, Claessens, A., Engel, M. (2004) *The Contributions of Hard Skills and Socio-emotional Behaviour to School Readiness*, Northwestern University, October http://www.northwestern.edu/ipr/publications/papers/2004/duncan/Duncan_school_skills.pdf

Dunn, L.M. and Dunn, L.M. (1981) 'Manual for forms L and M: Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test - Revised, Circle Pines, Mich, USAL American Guidance Services

Engle, P.L., Gorman, K., Martorell, R. and Pollitt, E. (1992) 'Infant and preschool psychological development' *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 14(3), The United Nations University Press.

http://www.unu.edu/unupress/food/8F143e/8F143E0d.htm#Infant%20and%20preschool%20psychological%20development

Ennew, J. and Plateau, D.P. (2004) *How to research the physical and emotional punishment of children*, Bangkok: Save the Children, South East, East Asia and Pacific Region http://www.rb.se/NR/rdonlyres/32BB2EED-496C-49DF-9294-D7D6B2804B2D/0/resourcehandbook.pdf

Escobal, J., Lanata, C., Madrid, S., Penny, M., Saavedra, J., Suárez, P., Verastegui, H., Villar, E. and Huttly, S. (2003) *Young Lives Preliminary Country Report: Peru*, London: Young Lives.

Feeny, T. and Boyden, J. (2003) *Children and Poverty: A Review of Contemporary Literature and Thought on Children and Poverty*, Virginia: Christian Children's Fund

Gasper, D. (2004) Subjective and Objective Well-being in relation to economic inputs: *puzzles and responses* ESRC Research Group on Wellbeing in Developing Countries Working Paper 9, October

http://www.bath.ac.uk/econ-dev/wellbeing/research/workingpaperpdf/wed09.pdf

Gibbs, S. and Boyden, J. (1995) *Children affected by organised violence: an annotated bibliography on research methods*, Stockholm, Radda Barnen

Greaney, V. and Neuman, S.B. (1990) 'The Functions of Reading: A Cross-Cultural Perspective', *Reading Research Quarterly* 25(3): 172-195

Griesel, D., Swart-Kruger, J. and Chawla, L. (2004) 'Children in South Africa can make a difference' 277-294 in Lewis, V., Kellett, M., Robinson, C., Fraser, S. and Ding, S. (eds) *The Reality of Research with Children and Young People*, London: Sage.

Guijt, I., Fuglesang, A. and Kisadha, T. (eds.) (1994) *It is the Young Trees that make a Thick Forest. A report on Redd Barna's Learning Experiences with Participatory Rural Appraisal*, Kyakatebe, Masaka District, Uganda: Redd Barna and IIED

Hanushek, E.A. (2005) 'Why Quality Matters in Education' *Finance and Development*, June: 15-19

Harpham, T., Huong, N.T., Long, T.T. and Tuan, T (2005) 'Participatory Child Poverty Assessment in Rural Vietnam', *Children and Society* 19: 27-41

Hart, R.A. (1997) *Children's participation: The theory and practise of involving young citizens in community development and environmental care* London and New York: UNICEF and Earthscan Publications Ltd.

Hussaini M.A., Karyadi L., Husaini Y.K., Karyadi D. and Pollitt E. (1991) 'Developmental effects of short-term supplementary feeding in nutritionally-at-risk Indonesian infants' *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 54:799-804.

Johnson, V., Hill, J., Ivan-Smith, E. (1995) 'Listening to Smaller Voices: Children in an environment of change' Somerset: Action Aid.

Johnson, V. (1996) 'Starting a dialogue on children's participation' *PLA Notes* 25: 30-37, London: IIED

http://www.iied.org/NR/agbioliv/pla_notes/documents/plan_02508.PDF

Johnston, J. (unpublished) Educational Achievement Scales and Cognitive Functioning

Kakama, P.T. (2002) *Deprivation of Basic Needs as a Motivator for Criminal Activities among Children* Cluster C Report, Kampala: Save the Children (UK), May

Kirby, P. (1999) *Involving Young Researchers. How to enable young people to design and conduct research*,' New York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation http://www.invo.org.uk/pdfs/Involving_Young_People_in_Research_151104_FINAL.pdf

Levine, R.A. (1989) 'Cultural environments in child development', 52-68 in Damon, W. (ed.) *Child development today and tomorrow*, San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

LeVine, R.A., Dixon, S., LeVine, S., Richman, A., Leiderman, P.H., Keefer, C.H., and Brazelton, T.B. (1994) *Child care and culture: Lessons from Africa*, NY: Cambridge University Press

Lorenc, L. and Branthwaite, A. (1986) 'Evaluation of Political Violence by English and Northern Irish Schoolchildren', *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 25: 349-352

Loughry, M., Macmullin, C., Eyber, C., Abebe, B., Ager, A., Kostelny, K. and Wessells, M. (2005) *Assessing Afghan Children's Psychosocial Well-being: A Multi-Modal study of intervention outcomes.* Report submitted to the Psychosocial Working Group Secretariat, February.

http://www.forcedmigration.org/psychosocial/papers/afghan_report_ccf_ox_qmuc.pdf

Mann, G. and Tolfree, D. (2003) *Children's participation in research: reflections from the Care and Protection of Separated Children in Emergencies project*, Stockholm: Save the Children Sweden Masten, A.S. (2001) 'Ordinary Magic: Resilience Processes in Development', *American Psychologist* 56 (3): 227-238.

McGregor, A. (2004) 'Researching Well-being: Communicating between the Needs of Policy Makers and the Needs of People' *Global Social Policy* 4(3): 337-358.

Miller, J. (1997) Never too young: How young children can take responsibility and make decisions. A handbook for early years worker, London: National Early Years Network

Molloy, G.N. (1981) 'Sub-cultural differences on selected cognitive tasks' *British Journal of Educational Psychology* 51: 105-108

Moss, K. (2001) 'Schooling and Striving for success: an investigation into the aspirations of girls attending high school in rural South India' 279-281 in Limb, M. and Dwyer, C. (eds) *Qualitative Methodologies for Geographers*, London: Arnold.

Narayan D., Patel, R., Schafft, K., Rademacher, A. and Koch-Schulte, S. (2000) *Voices of the Poor: Can Anyone Hear Us?* New York, N.Y.: Published for the World Bank, Oxford University Press.

http://www1.worldbank.org/prem/poverty/voices/reports.htmcananyone

Penn, H. (2004) 'Culture and childhood in pastoralist communities: the example of Outer Mongolia' 86-98 in Alaanen, L. and Mayall, B. *Conceptualizing Child-Adult Relations*, London, Falmer

Pollitt, E. and Triana, N.(1999) 'Stability, predictive validity, and sensitivity of mental and motor development scales and pre-school cognitive tests among low-income children in developing countries' *Food and Nutrition Bulletin* 20(1)

Pollitt, E., Watkins, W.E., Hussaini, M.A. (1997) 'Three-month nutritional supplementation in Indonesian infants and toddlers benefits memory function 8 years later' *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 66: 1357-63

Psychosocial Working Group (2003) *Psychosocial Intervention in Complex Emergencies: A Conceptual Framework* Edinburgh: Psychosocial Working Group, October

Punch, S. (1997) *Involving Children in Research: Using a variety of research methods in rural Bolivia*, paper presented at the INTRAC workshop: Involving children in research, Ruskin College, Oxford, July

(2001) 'Multiple Methods and Research Relations with Young People in Rural Bolivia', in Limb, M. and Dwyer, C. (eds) *Qualitative Methodologies for Geographers*, London: Arnold.

_____ (2002a) 'Research with Children: The Same or Different from Research with Adults?' *Childhood*, 9 (3): 321-341

_____ (2002b) 'Interviewing Strategies with Young People: The 'Secret Box', Stimulus Material and Task-based Activities', *Children & Society*, 16: 45-56.

_____ (2004) 'Negotiating Autonomy: Children's use of time and Space in Rural Bolivia' 94-114 in Lewis, V., Kellett, M., Robinson, C., Fraser, S. and Ding, S. (eds) *The Reality of Research with Children and Young People*, London: Sage.

Raundalen, M. and Dodge, C.P. (1991) 'Research challenges in practical perspective' 103-111 in Dodge, C.P. and Raundalen, M. (eds) *Reaching children in war: Sudan, Uganda and Mozambique* Bergen: Sigma Forlag

Reynolds, P. (1989) *Childhood in Crossroads: Cognition and Society in South Africa*, Cape Town: David Philip Publisher Ltd

Reynolds, P. (1991) *Dance Civet Cat: Child Labour in the Zambezi Valley*, Athens, OH: Ohio University Press.

Ridge, T. (2003) 'Listening to Children. Developing a child-centred approach to childhood poverty in the UK', *Family Matters* 65: 4-9

Rossiter, J.R. (1977) 'Reliability of a Short Test Measuring Children's Attitudes towards TV Commercials,' *The Journal of Consumer Research* 3(4): 179-184

Rutter, J. (2003) Supporting refugee children in 21st Century Britain: a compendium of essential information, Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books

Sa'di, I. (2001) 'An attitudes to school scale for primary school children' *Research in Education*, November.

http://www.findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_qa3765/is_200111/ai_n8987944

Santiago, J., Morrison, K., Fitzpatrick, A., Gontes, M.L., Vargas-Guadarrama, G., Kendall, T. and Negroni, M. (2003) *Reducing Stigma Surrounding HIV/AIDS: Evaluation of an Educational Programme for Health Professionals in Mexico and Latin America*, WA: MIRT Program, University of Washington, Seattle and Institutio Nacional de Salud Publica, Cuernavaca ,Morelos, MX.

Sapkota, P. and Sharma, J. (1996) 'Participatory interactions with children in Nepal' *PLA Notes* 25: 61-64, London: IIED

Sharpley, C.F. and Stone, J.M. (1985) 'An exploratory investigation to detect cross-cultural differences on the PPVT-R' *Psychology in the Schools* 22(4): 383-6

Slap, G.B., Lot, L., Huang, B., Daniyam, C.A., Zink, T.M., Succop, P.A. (2003) 'Sexual behaviour of adolescents in Nigeria: cross sectional survey of secondary school students' *British Medical Journal* 326: 15-21

Stegmann, K. (2003). Child Health and the Worst Forms of Child Labour: The Psychological Impact of Work on the Working Child, London: Anti-Slavery International

Theis, J. (1996) 'Children and participatory appraisals: experiences from Vietnam' *PLA Notes* 25: 70-72, London: IIED http://www.iied.org/NR/agbioliv/pla_notes/pla_backissues/25.html#AB16

Tuan, T., Lan, P.T., Harpham, T., Huong, N.T., Thach, T.D., Tod, B., Dua, T.T., Van Ha, N.T. and Attawell, K. (2003) *Young Lives Preliminary Country Report: Vietnam* London: Young Lives http://www.younglives.org.uk/countries/vietnam/preliminary-country-report

Tyler, F.B., Tyler, S.L., Echeverry, J.J. and Zea, M.C. (1991) 'Making It on the Streets in Bogotá: a Psychosocial Study of Street Youth', *Genetic, social general psychological monographs*, 117(4): 395-417

Van Donge, J.K., Chivwaile, M., Kapondamgaga, P., Kasapila, W., Mgemezulu, O., Sangore, N., Thawani, E. and Levy, S. (ed) (2001) *A Qualitative Study of Markets and Livelihood Security in Rural Malawi* Module 2 Part 2 of the Evaluation Programme for the 2000-2001 Targeted Inputs Programme (TIP) commissioned by DfID UK and Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation in Malawi

White, B. (1975) 'The economic importance of children in a Javanese Village' 127-146 in Nag, M. (ed) *Population and Social Organisation*, The Hague, Paris: Mouton Publishers

White, H. and Masset, E. (2004) *Books, Buildings and Learning Outcomes: An Impact Evaluation of World Bank Support to Basic Education in Ghana*, Washington, DC: World Bank.

http://econwpa.wustl.edu/eps/dev/papers/0504/0504013.pdf

White, S and Pettit, J. (2004) *Participatory Approaches and the Measurement of Human Well-Being* ESRC Research Group on Wellbeing in Developing Countries Working Paper 8, UNU-WIDER

http://www.wider.unu.edu/publications/working-papers/researchpapers/2004/en_GB/rp2004-057/_files/78091747604301025/default/rp2004-057.pdf

Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children (2001) *Against all odds: Surviving the war on Adolescent: Participatory research study with adolescents in Northern Uganda* NY: Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children http://www.womenscommission.org/pdf/ug.pdf

_____ (2002) Precious Resources: Adolescents in the Reconstruction of Sierra Leone: Participatory research study with Adolescents and Youth in Sierra Leone, NY: Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children http://www.womenscommission.org/pdf/sl_adol.pdf

Woodhead, M. (1998) Children's perspectives on their working lives: a participatory study in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, the Philippines, Guatemala, El Salvador and Nicaragua, Stockholm: Radda Barnen

_____ (2004) *Psychosocial impacts of children's work: a framework for research, monitoring and intervention*, Understanding Children's Work. An Inter-Agency Research Cooperation Project, February.

http://www.ucw-project.org/pdf/publications/psychosocial_impacts_cw.pdf

World Bank (2005) Social Protection,:

http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTSOCIALPROTECTION/0,,menu PK:282642~pagePK:149018~piPK:149093~theSitePK:282637,00.html (Last updated Dec 22nd 2005, accessed Jan 3rd 2006)

Zur, J. (1990) 'Children's Experience of War; Report on the psycho-social impact of violence on children in Guatemala' *UNICEF*: 65

AUTHOR

Joy Johnston holds a Bachelors degree in Experimental Psychology and a Masters in Forced Migration at Oxford University. Her research interests during her Masters and her time on the Young Lives project included psychosocial well-being, the relevance of Western trauma paradigms in non-Western contexts, and the development of participative research methods for use with children. Joy is now a civil servant for the UK government and remains involved in Refugee Youth Project, which works with young refugees in Nepal, Lebanon and London, encouraging participation in human rights education and other activities.



© Young Lives 2008

Department of International Development University of Oxford 3 Mansfield Road, Oxford OX1 3TB, UK Tel: +44 (0)1865 289966 Email: younglives@younglives.org.uk

www.younglives.org.uk